



https://helda.helsinki.fi

Thermochemical liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes into biofuels and chemicals from circular economy perspectives

Song, Chengfang

2020-12-20

Song, C, Zhang, C, Zhang, S, Lin, H, Kim, Y, Ramakrishnan, M, Du, Y, Zhang, Y, Zheng, H & Barcelo, D 2020, 'Thermochemical liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes into biofuels and chemicals from circular economy perspectives ', The Science of the Total Environment, vol. 749, 141972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141972

http://hdl.handle.net/10138/348352 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141972

cc_by_nc_nd acceptedVersion

Downloaded from Helda, University of Helsinki institutional repository.

This is an electronic reprint of the original article.

This reprint may differ from the original in pagination and typographic detail.

Please cite the original version.

See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/349943416

Thermochemical liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes into biofuels and chemicals from circular economy perspectives





Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:

Tropical peat decomposition under land-use change: adaptation to resources and conditions (TROPDEC) View project

Hydrothermal conversion of biomass and utlization of its aqeous products View project



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Thermochemical liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes into biofuels and chemicals from circular economy perspectives



Chengfang Song ^{a,1}, Cheng Zhang ^{a,1}, Shicheng Zhang ^b, Hui Lin ^c, Yrjälä Kim ^{a,d}, Muthusamy Ramakrishnan ^e, Yanqiang Du ^f, Yan Zhang ^a, Huabao Zheng ^{a,*}, Damià Barceló ^{g,h,**}

^a Zhejiang Province Key Laboratory of Soil Contamination Bioremediation, Zhejiang A&F University, Hangzhou 311300, China

^b Shanghai Key Laboratory of Atmospheric Particle Pollution and Prevention (LAP3), Department of Environmental Science and Engineering, Fudan University, Shanghai 200438, China

Crops & tree

Agricultural and forestry wastes

(AFWs)

^c The Institute of Environment, Resources, Soil and Fertilizers, Zhejiang Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Hangzhou 310021, China

^d Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

- ^e State Key Laboratory of Subtropical Silviculture, Zhejiang A&F University, Hangzhou 311300, China
- ^f National Land Joint Engineering Research Center for Rural Environment Resources Utilization and Remediation, Nanjing Agricultural University, Nanjing 210095, China
- ^g Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona, Girona, Spain
- ^h Water and Soil Quality Research Group, Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA-CSIC, Barcelona, Spain

HIGHLIGHTS

- G R A P H I C A L A B S T R A C T
- Presenting that thermochemical liquefaction of AFWs is a promising process for producing chemicals and/or biofuels.
- This review focuses on the medium (or solvent) of thermochemical liquefaction and circular economy of product production.
- The smart use of AFWs requires a combination of available waste streams and local technical solutions to meet sustainability criteria.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 October 2019 Received in revised form 19 August 2020 Accepted 23 August 2020 Available online 6 September 2020

Keywords: Agricultural and forestry wastes Thermochemical liquefaction Biofuels

ABSTRACT

Waste produced in various fields and activities in society has been increasing, thereby causing immediate environmental harm and a serious-global problem. Recently, the attitude towards waste has changed along with innovations making waste as a new resource. Agricultural and forestry wastes (AFWs) are globally produced in huge amounts and thought to be an important resource to be used for decreasing the dependence on fossil fuels. The central issue is to take use of AFW for different types of products making it a source of energy and at the same time refining it for the production of valuable chemicals. In this review, we present an overview of the composition and pretreatment of AFWs, thermochemical liquefaction including direct liquefaction and indirect liquefaction (liquid products from syngas by gasification) for producing biofuels and/or chemicals. The following two key points were discussed in-depth: the solvent or medium of thermochemical conversion and

Circular economy

chemical

Thermochemical liquefaction

(Direct & indirect liquefaction)

* Corresponding author.

- ** Correspondence to: D. Barcelo, Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona, Girona, Spain. E-mail addresses: zhenghuabao@zafu.edu.cn (H. Zheng), dbcqam@cid.csic.es (D. Barceló).
- ¹ These two authors contributed equally to this work.

Chemicals Circular economy circular economy of liquid products. The concept of bio-economy entails economic use of waste streams, leading to the widened assessment of biomass use for energy where sustainability is a key issue coined in the circular economy. The smart use of AFWs requires a combination of available waste streams and local technical solutions to meet sustainability criteria.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Introduction							
2.	Composition and pretreatment							
	2.1.	Composition of AFWs	3					
	2.2.	Pretreatment of AFWs	4					
		2.2.1. Physical pretreatment	4					
		2.2.2. Chemical pretreatment	4					
		2.2.3. Biological pretreatment	4					
3.	Direc	t liquefaction of AFW	4					
	3.1.	Liquefaction processes	5					
		3.1.1. Cellulose	5					
		3.1.2. Hemicellulose	5					
		3.1.3. Lignin	6					
	3.2.	Liquefaction technologies	6					
		321 Liquefaction in water	6					
		3.2.2. Liquefaction in organic solvent	6					
		32.3 Liquefaction in complex solvents	6					
	3.3	liquefaction products	8					
	0.01	331 Biofuel definitions	8					
		3.3.2 Biofuels for transportation	8					
		3.3.3. Chemicals for revenue	8					
4.	Indir	ect liquefaction of AFWs	8					
	4.1	Gasifying processes	9					
		4.1.1. Drving	9					
		412 Pyrolysis	10					
		413 Oxidation	10					
		4.14 Reduction	10					
	42	Casifying technologies	10					
		421 Casifying in air	11					
		422 Casifying with steam	11					
		42.3 Gasifying with oxygen	11					
	4.3	Products from swipes	11					
	1.51	431 Hydroven as transportation fue	11					
		43.2 Liquid hydrocarbons by Fisher-Tronch synthesis	11					
		433 Chemical feedstock	12					
5	Biofu	and chemical production in circular economy	13					
5.	5 1	linear or circular model of economy	13					
	5.2	The path of economy to sustainability	14					
	53	The path of control to domain and the second se	14					
6	Conc		14					
Doc	laratio		14					
Ack	nowloc	ron competing interest	14					
App	ondiv	geniends	14					
- App			14					
Kele	ences		10					

1. Introduction

The world's population continues to grow, and the medium-variant projection indicates that the global population could grow to around 8.5 billion in 2030, 9.7 billion in 2050, and 10.9 billion in 2100 (DESA, 2017). Therefore, the need for new technology innovation providing a constant supply of renewable energy and chemicals has become critical for enabling sustainable development for the whole world (Sadef et al., 2016). Agricultural and forestry wastes (AFWs) are attractive feedstock for numerous biorefinery processing technologies and are the most abundant raw materials on the Earth. They are composed of carbohydrate polymers (cellulose, hemicellulose) and an aromatic polymer (lignin), which can be converted into biofuels and biochemicals by different

processes in small and large biorefineries due to its low cost, abundance and widespread availability (Millati et al., 2019; Ramarajan and Manohar, 2017). The amount of cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin depend on the type of raw material. Usually, the cellulose content may vary between 30% and 50%, hemicelluloses 20–40% and lignin 10–30% (Fatma et al., 2018).

In the last two decades, global research programs on alternative energy have been directed towards discovering new and sustainable energy sources since the global economy can no longer depend on fossil fuels. AFWs utilized to produce biofuels have immense potential after the production cost, and market values are appropriately assessed (André Rodrigues Gurgel et al., 2019). Pretreatment is the first and most important step in lignocellulosic biomass processing. It is a key process by which the recalcitrant lignocellulosic biomass can be modified to make it amenable to further reactions to convert it into biofuel or other products. The development of technologies on hydrothermal treatments could improve the utilization of lignocellulosic biomass through the separation of its components (cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin) in sequential processes (Eskicioglu et al., 2017; Tran, 2016a, 2016b). Low liquid to solid ratios or mild temperatures in the pretreatment step are possible ways of reducing cost. The adopted technologies for the separation and conversion of this lignocellulosic biomass into products represent an important part of the total production cost. AFWs as the feedstock are more promising than coal for thermochemical liquefaction due to its low sulfur content, nearly carbon-neutral, and obtaining valuable biofuels and/or chemicals (see Fig. 1).

AFWs are in modern society resources that can be used for producing renewable energy through the choice of suitable techniques. Biofuels for the transportation sector have been developed from different types of biomass where life cycle assessment (LCA) has been used for evaluation of carbon footprint. Sustainability issues are inherent in planning what to do with AFW, and different waste streams need to be connected in a cost-effective manner that includes ecological and societal sustainability.

Among the renewable energies, bioethanol is a typical product from the bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass, and it widely used in some countries such as America and Brazil (Abo et al., 2019; Du et al., 2019; Mohapatra et al., 2019). Further, it has been proven to be a renewable and environmentally friendly transportation fuel. Compared with firstgeneration bioethanol from corn or sugarcane, the second-generation bioethanol based on lignocellulosic material has received more attention since feedstocks are nonedible food, which avoids the competition with daily food and fodder. Main factors that determine the feasibility and competitiveness of biofuels and biochemicals produced by Thermochemical conversion are the cost of biomass, yield and productivity of products, as well as separation and purification cost. This review



Fig. 1. The TCL routes of AFW to biofuels and chemicals.

summarizes recent advances in the process of thermochemical conversion of agriculture and forestry wastes into biofuels and chemicals. We combine the recent technological knowledge with present environmental concerns and Bio-economy. It is not yet clear that the ways in which AFWs are used for renewable energy is entirely sustainable. The concept of Circular economy is here put forward to integrate the AFW treatment technology to sustainability in its true sense. The full-fledged Circular economy is a future ideal but now is the time to critically assess the chosen technologies for making smart use of different waste streams that at the end will be resource-efficient and having lower carbon footprint.

2. Composition and pretreatment

2.1. Composition of AFWs

Forestry waste residue comes from Woody biomass of timber logging. Food and agricultural organization (FAO) estimated that global forests cover 4 B ha (about 30% of total land area), corresponding to an average of 0.62 ha/capita (D'Annunzio et al., 2015). Of the global forest covering around 50% falls within the developing countries (Van den Born et al., 2014). The residue is stumps, branches and leaves, but then also processing waste like logs and sawdust generation. The recovery of residues depends on geographical conditions, like tree species. Estimates say that for every cubic meter of logged material that is removed from the forest, a cubic meter of waste remains in the forest. The processing waste includes branch trimming and bark removal (about 12% of this material arrives at the mill), slabs/blocks/further trimmings (about 34%) and sawdust (about 12%). Additional waste comes from kiln drying, shavings (about 6%) and sawdust/trimming (about 2%) (Thrän et al., 2017). Global wood-derived biomass production is around 4.6 Gt annually of which 60% goes to energy generation, 20% to industrial 'round wood' and the remaining 20% being primary production, which will remain in the forest to decay (Thrän et al., 2017). An estimated 80% of forest tree mass is lost as waste, with about 20% of the wood ending up in the form of kiln-dried sawn product (Tripathi et al., 2019). Based on Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) estimations, the total AFWs and industrial wood wastes in 22 countries are depicted in Table 1. Russia, Indonesia, US, Brazil and China produce most AFWs and industrial wood wastes. From the total 715 Mt./p.a. estimation of the potential residues production could be more than 700 Mt./p.a. This loss should be turned into a resource, for example as a fuel source. In the developing countries, forestry residues remain a major energy source, as the main household fuel that significantly contributes to industrial energy consumption (Rafael et al., 2015). The composition of AFW greatly influences the performance of AFW conversion system, whether it is a liquefier or gasifier, etc. A proper understanding of the composition of AFW feedstock is essential for the design of a reliable conversion system.

Generally, the components of AFWs include cellulose, hemicelluloses, lignin, proteins, lipids, starches, simple sugars, HCs, water, ash and other compounds. The typical content (cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin) of AFW materials is shown in Table S1. AFWs have a composite structure generally composed of 30-50% cellulose, 20-30% hemicelluloses and 5-40% lignin depending on the origin. This composition and lignocellulosic stability make a selective conversion to specific products or product classes quite difficult because different bond types (C—O, C—C and C=C, etc.) have to be cleaved and it necessitates more drastic conditions such as high temperature and pressure (Patil et al., 2014). Gasification (for the production of syngas) and liquefaction conversion are the most commonly used methods applied for converting AFW into fuels or chemicals. For example, the cereal (namely corn) can be converted to ethanol through fermentation, but the cellulosic part of the corn plant requires a more involved process through gasification or hydrolysis. The direct liquefaction of AFWs with high water content, such as rice straw, corn stalk, bagasse, willow,

Table 1

List of top twenty-two countries globally producing agricultural and forestry wastes (Bentsen and Felby, 2010; Tripathi et al., 2019).

Country name	Global AFWs in	million tons (Mt)		Global industrial wood production wastes (Mt)			Total waste of AFWs and
	Total forest waste	Total agricultural waste	Total AFWs	Waste from forest falling and cutting	Waste from wood mill	Total waste	wood industrial waste
Russian Federation	5718	N/A	5718	68.5	27.0	95.5	5814
Indonesia	2221	N/A	2221	25.2	9.9	35.1	2256
USA	2078	682	2760	111.8	44.0	155.8	2916
Brazil	1613	451	2064	59.1	23.3	82.3	2146
China	807	716	1523	55.04	21.8	77.2	1600
Sweden	316	N/A	316	23.8	9.4	33.2	349
France	308	N/A	308	9.8	3.8	13.6	322
Finland	246	N/A	246	18.7	7.4	26.0	272
India	232	605	837	19.8	7.8	27.6	865
Philippines	162	N/A	162	1.5	0.6	2.1	164
Poland	132	N/A	132	12.5	4.9	17.4	149
Norway	81	N/A	81	3.4	1.3	4.8	86
Australia	80	N/A	80	9.2	3.6	12.8	93
Republic of Korea	65	N/A	65	1.5	0.6	2.1	67
South Africa	52	N/A	52	6.4	2.5	8.9	61
Canada	50	105	155	56.2	22.1	78.4	233
Thailand	40	N/A	40	0.01	0.0	0.01	40
UK	15	580	595	1.2	0.5	1.7	597
Japan	0	N/A	0	7.1	2.8	10.0	10
Germany	0	N/A	0	16.9	6.7	23.6	24
Austria	0	N/A	0	4.7	1.9	6.6	7
Argentina	0	148	148	N/A	N/A	N/A	148
Total	14,218	N/A	14,218	513	202	715	14,933

wood bark and sawdust, etc. (see Table S2), is a more economical process since they do not have to be dried or pre-treated.

2.2. Pretreatment of AFWs

The structure of AFWs is naturally robust as three main components of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin are strongly bonded, which is recalcitrant to deconstruction or conversion in the biorefinery. Pretreatment is an essential component of conversion process in order to reduce the recalcitrance of AFWs, destroy the compact structure, increase biomass porosity and then promote the conversion of downstream processes. Several pretreatment methods, physical, chemical, and biological pretreatment, will be introduced in this part according to the requirement or purpose of different processes.

2.2.1. Physical pretreatment

The feed preparation means simple particle size reduction and drying that is an optional step depending on different reactor types. The size reduction methods, such as chipping, shredding, grinding, milling, can be used to enhance the digestibility of the AFWs, which increases the available specific surface area, and reduces both the degree of polymerization and cellulose crystallinity (Chen et al., 2016). HTP can be classified, according to the conditions of temperature and pressure, into stream explosion, hot-compressed water and subcritical/supercritical water treatment. Among these pretreatments, stream explosion is an environmentally friendly process because of its outstanding advantages, such as no catalyst requirement, less corrosion, and lower energy requirement (Rabemanolontsoa and Saka, 2016).

2.2.2. Chemical pretreatment

Pretreatment is required to destroy the lignocellulosic structure to make AFWs easier to convert. In chemical pretreatment with some chemicals, such as acids, alkali, organic solvents, and ionic liquids, internal lignin and hemicellulose bonds are broken, separating lignocellulosic AFWs into major fractions: cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin (Zhang et al., 2016a, 2016b). Dilute acids, such as sulfuric, phosphoric, hydrochloric, and nitric acid, etc., can efficiently break down hemicellulose structures and release xylose. Compared with dilute acid,

concentrated acid allows high yield of sugar such as glucose, however, it is not preferred because it is corrosive to the equipment. Agricultural residues or herbaceous crops contain less lignin and are more easily disrupted at alkaline conditions (Lai et al., 2019). Alkali solutions, such as sodium hydroxide, potassium hydroxide, aqueous ammonia, etc., have a high pH, generally making lignin soluble, which forms the basis for the pulping process. Alkaline pretreatment can be conducted at lower temperature and pressure, causing less sugar degradation than acid pretreatment, but the reaction time is longer such as several hours or days (Bali et al., 2015). The use of chemicals may still be less environmentally friendly.

2.2.3. Biological pretreatment

Biological methods are environment-friendly, which can be used to reduce the polymerization of three major components of AFWs. They work in mild condition and can benefit the pretreatment stage by reducing chemical utilization and energy consumption (Lin et al., 2017a, 2017b). Biocatalysts like microbial cells or enzymes still need to be engineered and optimized in order to achieve better results (Yuan et al., 2016). Meanwhile, the high cost of biocatalyst production needs to be reduced to benefit biological pretreatment on the industrial scale. Future studies on pretreatment of AFWs should concentrate on minimizing side products and increasing the yield of main products such as glucose, xylose and lignin in an energy sufficient manner.

3. Direct liquefaction of AFW

In the past few decades, biochemical and thermochemical conversion technologies and processes have extensively been studied and applied in the preparation of biofuels and chemicals from biomass feedstock (Brethauer and Studer, 2015; Chen et al., 2015). Among these methods, a direct liquefaction process using a solvent is the most promising method for producing low molecular weight liquid fuels and/or chemicals. Liquefaction is the thermochemical conversion of wet biomass feedstock into liquid fuels and/or chemicals in a hightemperature pressurized environment (200–450 °C, 10–350 bar), which breaks down the polymer structure into liquid components (Chen et al., 2019; Huber et al., 2006). This technology is especially suitable for the wet feedstock conversion to fuels and/or chemicals, which can be applied to a wide range of feedstocks at similar processing conditions. In recent years, the liquefaction process has widely been applied to wet biomass, such as AFWs (Yang et al., 2019).

3.1. Liquefaction processes

Carbohydrate-rich biomass of AFW is converted into chemical intermediates that can be upgraded into value-added fuels and chemicals using suitable solvents with or without a catalyst. Under thermochemical liquefaction, cellulose and hemicellulose are mainly hydrolyzed into monosaccharides and further to acids, aldehydes, ketones, etc., while lignin is degraded into phenolic compounds (see Fig. 2) (Ghosh and Haverly, 2019).

3.1.1. Cellulose

Cellulose is a polymer of glucose represented by the general formula $(C_6H_{10}O_5)_n$ ($n \approx 10,000$) and formed by the linkage of glucose through β -1,4 glycoside bonds. These glycosidic bonds promote the formation of intramolecular and intermolecular hydrogen bonds where cellulose exists in crystalline form and does not swell in water. (Brand and Kim, 2015; Feng et al., 2018). In a gradually heated hydrothermal environment, the β -1,4 glycosidic bond in the cellulose crystal is gradually broken to form a glucose monomer. Glucose undergoes decomposition under hydrothermal conditions, resulting in a low yield of glucose. Generally, cellulose could be converted into solubilized carbohydrates (such as glucose) by hydrothermal liquefaction, which can also be upgraded to liquid fuels, platform biochemicals, and commodity chemicals such as ethanol, liquid alkanes, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF), furfural, acetic

acid, etc. Kumar et al. investigated cellulose pretreatment in subcritical water at temperatures ranging from 200 to 315 °C, at 27.6 MPa, and for 3.4–6.2 s reaction times (Kumar et al., 2010). Cellulose was converted to hydrolysis products (oligomers and monomers) and a portion further degraded to the aqueous degradation products of glucose, including glycolaldehyde, fructose, anhydroglucose, and 5-HMF (see Fig. S1).

3.1.2. Hemicellulose

Hemicellulose, as the second most abundant plant material after cellulose, accounts for 20% to 30% of AFWs, is a heteropolymer composed of different monosaccharides (5-carbon sugar and 6-carbon sugar), including xylose, mannose, glucose and galactose, etc. (Lin et al., 2017a, 2017b). The composition of hemicellulose varies greatly among different biomasses: the hemicellulose of herbaceous plants mainly contains xylan, while the hemicellulose of woody plants mainly contains mannan, glucan and galactan (Feng et al., 2018). Xylan has successfully been used as a model material to study the liquefaction of hemicellulose in the presence of water or organic solvents (Wang et al., 2016). In hydrothermal liquefaction, xylan could be converted into solubilized monosaccharides such as xylose, which can also be upgraded to liquid fuels, platform compounds and valuable chemicals such as furfural, D-xylulose, glyceraldehyde, lactic acid, etc. Aida et al. studied the hydrothermal reaction of d-xylose in the water at high temperatures (350 and 400 °C) and high pressures (40-100 MPa) to elucidate the reaction pathway and reaction kinetics (Aida et al., 2010). Based on experimental results, a simplified reaction pathway (see Fig. S2) was constructed assuming d-xylulose as an intermediate for furfural and retro-aldol products by the dehydration reaction pathway, retro-aldol reaction pathway and Lobry de Bruyn-Alberta van Ekenstein (LBET) pathway.



Fig. 2. Schematic of target biochemicals, and their precursors produced from biomass by solvent liquefaction (Ghosh and Haverly, 2019).

3.1.3. Lignin

Lignin is a heterogeneous aromatic biopolymer, having an approximate 10-30% dry weight and 40% of energy content in most terrestrial plants. It is one of the few renewable sources of aromatic chemicals on Earth (Sun et al., 2018). Given the structural and chemical properties of lignin itself, it contains functional groups such as hydroxyl groups and methoxy groups, which are important industrial raw materials and can replace petroleum-based chemicals as an important source of organic compounds, especially aromatic compounds (Ralph et al., 2016; Zakzeski et al., 2010). Among the lignin liquefaction methods, a direct liquefaction process using a solvent is considered to be the most promising method for producing low molecular weight liquid fuels and chemicals (Li et al., 2015; Schutyser et al., 2018). Lignin is a complex phenylpropanoid polymer held together by C-C or C-O-C bonds (Tobimatsu et al., 2012). As shown in Fig. S3, in the hydrothermal liquefaction of lignin for phenolic production, hydrolysis and cleavage of the C-O-C and C—C bonds, demethoxylation, alkylation and condensation reactions take place and main reactions are competitive (Kang et al., 2013).

3.2. Liquefaction technologies

In the process of direct liquefaction, the solvent has a significant effect on the AFWs. The interaction between the solvent molecule and the biomass molecule directly affects the distribution and composition of the liquefied product (Motagamwala et al., 2016). Generally, the solvent in AFW liquefaction has many functions: dissolving and dispersing the raw material, stabilizing the reaction intermediate or inhibiting its repolymerization, and additionally providing the hydrogen source to improve the quality of the liquefaction of AFW in the presence of a single-phase such as water, organic solvent, mixed solvent or supercritical fluid, have extensively been studied (Shuai and Luterbacher, 2016). There are especially many potential green solvent options for biomass feedstock processing in future (see Fig. 3).

3.2.1. Liquefaction in water

Water is one of the most studied solvents, which is environmentally friendly and inexpensive. In addition, water plays an active role in the liquefaction processes as solvent, reactant and catalyst or catalyst precursor. Water properties, such as density, dielectric constant and ionic product, etc., have a significant effect in the range of temperatures from 200 °C to 450 °C (Fig. S4 a). The properties of water change around the critical temperature need to be sufficient to facilitate liquefaction: the dielectric constant drops by about 80% to allow improved solubility of non-polar compounds, but the ionic product is still high enough (above $\sim 10^{-14}$) to favor ionic reactions. These reactions will then result in oil products (Fig. S4 b) rather than radical reactions resulting in solids (coke) or gases (Castello et al., 2018). Temperatures beyond and above



Fig. 3. Green solvents in biomass processing (Soh and Eckelman, 2016).

the critical temperature are referred to as the hydrothermal carbonization and gasification regime, respectively (Fig. S4 b). The AFW itself contains water, and these feedstocks can be converted directly without drying if they contain 60% or more water (Olmstead et al., 2013). Hydrothermal conversion of the AFW processes provides the opportunity to use feedstocks for the formation of energy carriers or platform chemicals. Based on these advantages, a large number of studies have been carried out using aqueous solvents for AFW liquefaction (Nazari et al., 2015; Tran, 2016a, 2016b), achieving good results (as summarized entry 1–8 of Table 2).

3.2.2. Liquefaction in organic solvent

Water is the most widely used AFW liquefaction solvent, which is cheap and environmental benign. When water is used as a liquefaction solvent for AFWs, there are also many problems: 1) The critical point of water (374.3 °C and 22.1 MPa) is high, which gives higher requirements for instruments and equipment, harsh operating conditions and increased costs. 2) The yield of insoluble products such as aromatic compounds and bio-oil is low in a water solvent. 3) The liquid product has a high oxygen content (30-50%) and a low calorific value (Gunawan et al., 2013; Verma et al., 2018). Therefore, to improve the yield and calorific value of chemicals and bio-oil products, more and more researchers are using organic solvents such as small-molecule alcohols and ketones instead of aqueous solvents for research (see entry 9-12 of Table 2). Organic solvents such as methanol (239.5 °C, 8.1 MPa) and ethanol (240.8 °C, 6.1 MPa), whose critical points (and boiling point, dielectric constant, etc.) are much lower than that of water, could succeed in the liquefaction of AFWs into valuable bio-oils and chemicals under mild reaction conditions.

Organic solvents can be classified into three categories according to their polarity: polar protic, dipolar aprotic and non-polar solvents (Reichardt and Welton, 2014; Shuai and Luterbacher, 2016). The polar protic solvent refers to a solvent in which a hydrogen atom is bonded to an electronegative atom, such as a small molecule alcohol solvent. Dipolar aprotic solvent is a solvent, which does not contain O—H and forms double or multiple bonds between C and O or N atoms, such as acetone and tetrahydrofuran. Non-polar solvents are compounds having a low dielectric constant and being immiscible with water, such as benzene, diethyl ether, and dichloroethane. Table S3 lists the types and examples of organic solvents for the AFW liquefaction.

Liquefaction of AFWs with proper solvents is a process that can prospectively be integrated with optimized conditions to produce fuel additives and valuable chemicals, simultaneously (Liu and Zhang, 2008). Compared with the water solvent, the critical temperature and pressure of the organic solvent are both low. From the viewpoint of the liquefaction reaction, the reaction conditions using the organic solvent are milder, and the requirements on the instruments and equipment are also relatively low. When the organic solvent is used for AFW liquefaction, its reaction effect is remarkable, and it has great potential in the field of AFW liquefaction for bio-oil and chemicals production (Isa et al., 2018). The use of the organic solvent could also yield some problems, for example, a high cost of the solvent should be considered; the application and recycling of a large quantity of organic solvent (such as methanol and phenol) result in environmental concerns (Kang et al., 2013). Fig. S5 shows the advantages and disadvantages of water and organic solvents as liquefaction solvent (Huang and Yuan, 2015).

3.2.3. Liquefaction in complex solvents

Based on the above discussions, the use of water or organic solvents as liquefaction solvent has its own advantages and disadvantages. In view of this, the liquefaction in mixed solvents of water-organic solvent is proposed to combine the advantages of water and organic solvents (Zhang et al., 2019). The organic solvent/water mixed solvent refers to a system in which the organic solvent is miscible or miscible with water. The mixed solvent can not only dissolve AFWs well, but also have a good solubility to the reaction product, so that AFWs can have

Table 2

Summary of recent research progress in hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) of AFWs in different solvents.

Entry Feedstock		Liquefaction conditions					Products	Reference	
		Temperature Pressure [°C] [bar]		RT ^a catalyst s [min]		solvent			
1	Brown macro-algae ^b	350	-	15	_	Water	Bio-crude yields between 9.8 wt% and 17.8 wt% (daf) with HHVs between 32 and 34 MJ/kg and bio-char yields between 10.9 wt% and 18.6 wt% (db) with HHVs between 15.7 and 26.2 MJ/kg	(Anastasakis and Ross, 2015)	
2	Rice straw	300	120	30	-	Water	Recovery of sugar, aromatics and acetic acid from hydrolysates of rice straw.	(Lyu et al., 2015)	
3	Rice straw	280–320	60-90	_	-	Water	HTL of rice straw under N_2 showed high conversion (78%) and bio-oil yield (17 wt%) compared to O_2 and CO_2 . The major compounds were composed of phenol, guaiacol, syringol and their derivatives.	(Singh et al., 2015)	
4	Oil palm residues ^c	330–390	250-350	30-240	-	Water	Optimum bio-oil yield of 38.5 wt% is obtained at 390 °C and 25 MPa for 60 min	(Chan et al., 2015)	
5	Beech wood	300	10	60	-	Water	High iodine value (126 g $I_2/100$ g of fuel) bio-oil is obtained	(Haarlemmer et al., 2016)	
6	Birch wood saw dust	300	90	30	КОН	Water	The bio-oil yield with KOH was around 40 wt% (un-catalyzed experiment, ~18 wt%). The products were mainly phenol derivatives 7(2-methoxy-phenol) and aliphatic compounds.	(Nazari et al., 2015)	
7	Litsea cubeba seed	250-350	30-120	60	Na ₂ CO ₃	Water	The highest bio-oil yield of 56.9 wt% was achieved at 290 °C, 60 min. The higher heating values of the bio-oil were estimated at around 40.8 M/kg	(Wang et al., 2013)	
8	Waste plastics	400	250	15	-	Water	Plastics convert into their monomers and value-added chemical compounds. Nearly 100% conversion of PC	(Helmer Pedersen and Conti, 2017)	
9	Kenaf ^d and wheat straw	250-350	50	60	Ru/C	Tetralin	(Polycarbonate) into synthetic crude oil. Higher oil yield of hydrolysates was 77.2% at 300 °C for kenaf.	(Meryemoğlu et al., 2014)	
10	Barley straw	280-400	-	15	K ₂ CO ₃	Acetone	Bio-crude yield was enhanced gradually with aqueous phase addition at 300 °C, and reached 38.4 wt% after three cycles.	(Zhu et al., 2015)	
11	Rice straw	270-345	-	15-30	-	Ethanol	Bio-oil yield of 47.8 wt% was obtained at conditions of 320 °C, 15 min.	(Yang et al., 2018)	
12	Cellulose	250-375	-	15	H_2SO_4	1,4-Dioxane	A maximum levoglucosan yield of 51% was achieved at 350 °C using 0.25 mM sulfuric acid in pure 1,4-dioxane.	(Ghosh and Brown, 2019)	
13	Lignocellulose biomass ^e	300	-	15	_	Ethanol-water	The liquefaction efficiency in three reaction media with respect to the bi-crude yield followed the order of water/ethanol mixed solvent > > pure water > pure ethanol regardless of the feedstocks.	(Feng et al., 2018)	
14	Mulberry bark	300	-	60	K ₂ CO ₃	Ethanol-water (E-W)	The liquefaction efficiency was higher in E-W (95.7 wt%) than that in water (87.5 wt%). And the yield of light oil was low (4.16% in E-W and 2.56% in water)	(Chen et al., 2018)	
15	Cornstalk	250-320	-	30	-	Methanol-water	Methanol and water exhibited a synergic effect on the cornstalk liquefaction. The yield of bio-oil reached 52.4% at 300 °C for 30 min.	(Zhu et al., 2014)	
16	Kraft lignin	290	20 ^f	120	HTaMoO ₆ and Rh/C	1,4-Dioxane-water	The Rh-HTaMoO ₆ was found to be the best to convert the lignin to liquid fuel, giving liquid product yield of 95.6% at 290 °C for 2 h and BO-2 yield of 58.7% at 320 °C for 24 h.	(Jin et al., 2018)	
17	Cornstalk powders	300–350	20	120	K ₂ CO ₃	Phenol-water	Cornstalk were effectively liquefied in a hot-compressed phenol-water medium (1:4 wt./wt.). The optimum temperature was around 350 °C, where the liquid yield attained a maximum at about 70 wt%.	(Wang et al., 2009)	
18	Rice straw	260–350	60-180	3	-	2-Propanol-water	The maximum yield of bio-oil was 39.7% for the 2-propanol: water volume ratio of 5:5 at 573 K, while the HHV of bio-oil increased with the reaction temperature and solvent volume ratio.	(Yuan et al., 2007)	
19	Kraft lignin	225–325	-	30–180	-	Ethanol/1,4-dioxane/ formic acid	A combination of ethanol, 1,4-dioxane and formic acid (10:10:2, v/v) was selected as liquefaction solvent for Kraft lignin, resulting in a low residue yield of 6.57% and a high phenolic monomer yield of 22.4% at 300 °C for 2 h	(Wu et al., 2019)	

^a RT, residence time.

^e Lignocelluloic biomass, organosolv lignin, cellulose.

^f The initial hydrogen pressure was 20 bar.

a good contact with the catalyst and greatly improve the reaction efficiency. In addition, low-molecular alcohols such as ethanol undergo a "reforming" reaction together with water in the hydrothermal process, generating hydrogen in situ as a hydrogen supplier, which is advantageous for reducing the oxygen content in the liquefied product (Isa et al., 2018). Mixed solvents thus have potential advantages and have received extensive attention and research in recent years.

The organic solvent (such as ethanol, methanol, phenol, etc.)-water mixed solvents have been applied to the liquefaction of various AFWs, such as cornstalk, rice straw, barks, wheat straw, sawdust, etc. as

^b Four brown macro-algae: *L. digitata, L. hyperborea, L. saccharina* and *A. esculenta*.

^c Oil palm residues: Raw empty fruit bunch, palm mesocarp fiber and palm kernel shell.

^d Kenaf, *Hibiscus cannabinus L*.

shown in Table 2 (see Entry 14–19). Research shows that the use of organic solvent water mixed solvents could further enhance the AFW liguefaction, resulting in higher conversion rate and bio-oil yields. Among all the organic solvent-water mixed solvents tested, alcohol-water mixed solvents have more commonly been employed. In a previous work of Yan et al., poplar liquefaction (PL) in methanol, water, or water/methanol cosolvents was investigated at 240-320 °C for 0-90 min. They found that the yields of bio-oils obtained from PL in water/methanol are higher than those in either methanol or water, indicating that methanol has a synergic effect with water on PL (Yan et al., 2015). Patil et al. studied hydrothermal liquefaction of wheat straw into bio-oil under subcritical conditions in water and water-alcohol mixtures. The water-ethanol mixture was found to be a very reactive medium showing a complete biomass conversion and > 30 wt% yield of high caloric oil (Patil et al., 2014). Fang et al. further reported that the water/ethanol mixture was extremely efficient for lignocellulose liquefaction. The oil yield followed the order of water/ethanol mixed solvent > > pure water > pure ethanol regardless of the feedstocks (Feng et al., 2018).

3.3. Liquefaction products

Direct liquefaction is a complex combination of various AFWs and processes to produce value-added products such as fuels and/or chemicals. It is necessary to consider suitable solvents, energy consumption, and carbon footprint information, etc. before choosing feed-stocks and processes in designing an optimum system (Ragauskas et al., 2014). When targeting chemicals, a key objective is to maximize the product selectivity to favor the subsequent separation. For the production of fuels, attention should be paid to the establishment of an energy-efficient process for high-quality fuels. This can be realized through the design of C—C coupling reactions and the development of multifunctional catalysts to minimize reaction steps from lignocellulose to fuels (Jing et al., 2019). The product portfolio of the liquefaction processes in terms of solid, liquid, and gas products is shown in Fig. 4 (Cao et al., 2017).

3.3.1. Biofuel definitions

The term biofuels are used in several ways and primarily it means fuel that originates from living organisms in the biosphere like plants but also microscopic organisms like algae. Sometimes the word is used already to denote biomass and often the refined biological material that is working directly as fuel. The diversity of meanings is also reflected in the division of biofuels into first, second, and third generation biofuels (Correa et al., 2017). The first-generation biofuel originates from agricultural crops like corn, sugarcane, sugar-beet, soybean oil and palm oil. The second-generation comes from agricultural waste like fruit waste, cooking oil and industrial waste. The third-generation biofuel is produced from Algae feedstock (Centore et al., 2014). The fourth-generation is photobiological solar and electro fuels that originates from algae and cyanobacteria. Agriculture and forestry generate substantial amounts of wastes resulting from harvestable yield. It is estimated the waste biomass is roughly 140 Gt 1,2 causing large problems with management in the form of undesirable environmental impacts.

3.3.2. Biofuels for transportation

Direct liquefaction of whole AFWs typically results in a wide range of products. Among these products, biofuels have an energy content of 70–95% of that of petroleum fuel oil (Cao et al., 2016; Jindal and Jha, 2016). Liquid biofuels can generally be categorized as alcohols, dropin biofuels and/or fuel additives. Methanol, a C₁ alcohol, is traditionally synthesized from syngas (CO and H₂) derived from the gaseous products removing CO₂. Drop-in biofuels that are pure hydrocarbons are fully compatible with existing fuel utilization systems (Zhang, 2016). AFWs can be processed into fuel additives to improve engine performance. Examples include methanol, ethanol, butanol, dimethyl ether (DME), and oxymethylene ethers (OME) (Zhang et al., 2016a, 2016b). Transportation fuels derived from the AFWs are shown in Fig. 5.

3.3.3. Chemicals for revenue

Although biofuels are produced in much larger volumes from AFWs, commodity chemicals potentially represent much larger revenue from AFWs. In recent years, the production of a wide range of chemicals from biomass has been demonstrated (Brethauer and Studer, 2015; Zhang, 2016). Carbohydrate-rich biomass such as AFW is converted into chemical intermediates that can be upgraded into value-added chemicals or fuels using suitable solvents with or without the catalyst. Cellulose or hemicellulose feedstock such as herbaceous could be used for producing solubilized carbohydrates at high yield and selectivity by solvent liquefaction method. These solubilized carbohydrates can be upgraded to platform biochemicals and/or valuable chemicals such as ethanol, liquid alkanes, 2dimethylfuran, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, furfural, acetic acid, etc. (Cao et al., 2015; Luterbacher et al., 2014). Another kind of valuable chemicals such as aromatic compounds from lignin feedstock via solvent liquefaction is aromatic fuel, chemicals, or their precursors. Lignin-rich materials such as soft and hardwood from AFWs can be used for the production of a variety of aromatic monomers such as guaiacol, 2,6-dimethoxyphenol, coniferyl alcohol, and the γ -methyl ethers as guaiacyl or syringyl lignin-derived products (Minami and Saka, 2003).

4. Indirect liquefaction of AFWs

Gasification is a process in which agricultural and forest industry wastes, such as crop straw, forestry scrap, or sawdust, react with air, oxygen, and/or steam to produce a gas product called syngas or producer gas that contains CO, H₂, CO₂, CH₄, and N₂ in various proportions (Huber



Fig. 4. Products from hydrothermal liquefaction of AFWs (Cao et al., 2017).



Fig. 5. Network of bio-fuels and allied fuel additives from Lignocellulosic biomass (AFWs). F-T: Fischer-Tropsch; i-C4: isobutene and isobutane; MTBE: Methyl tert-butyl ether; HRJs: hydro-processed renewable jet fuels (Zhang, 2016).

et al., 2006). Gasification of AFWs is an efficient and environmentally friendly way to produce biofuels and/or chemicals, which is similar to coal gasification with a few differences. As the AFWs are more reactive than coal, gasification of AFWs occurs at a lower temperature (400–1000 °C) than coal gasification (Olgun et al., 2011). The resulting gaseous product called producer gas is an energy-rich mixture of combustible H_2 and CO gas, which is the basis of the syngas (Beyene et al., 2018). The synthesis gas can then be converted into liquid fuels and chemicals by two different commercial processes: Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (Ellis et al., 2019; Gruber et al., 2019) or methanol/dimethyl ether synthesis (Dalena et al., 2018; Vita et al., 2018). Gasification, i.e. indirect liquefaction, thus shows great promise because it can reduce environmental pollution, guarantees the energy security, and encourages economic development.

4.1. Gasifying processes

AFW gasification occurs through a sequence of complex thermochemical reactions and hence, it is unrealistic to split the gasifier into different zones carrying out many gasification reactions simultaneously. These complex reactions involved in gasification process are shown in Fig. S6. A combination of reactions in the solid, liquid, and gas phases occur during the gasification including oxidation, drying, pyrolysis and reduction (Molino et al., 2016). Exothermic combustion reactions provide the heat required for the gasification process or it is thermally provided from external sources. When the gasification reaction doesn't produce tar, charcoal or black carbon, the composition of gaseous products can simply be expressed by the following eq. (1) (Isha and Williams, 2011; Sikarwar et al., 2016):

$$C_n H_m O_p + a O_2 + b H_2 O + heat \xrightarrow{steamor \, air} c CO + d CO_2 + e H_2 + C_x H_y$$
(1)

The major reactions occurring during gasification are depicted in Table 3 (Molino et al., 2018; Sansaniwal et al., 2017; Sikarwar et al., 2016):

4.1.1. Drying

Various physical and chemical characteristics of raw AFW material play a vital role in the gasification process. Generally, two types of moisture content are taken into consideration in the AFW feedstock, namely the intrinsic moisture, which is the water content of the material without taking the impact of weather into account; and the extrinsic moisture, which incorporates the influence of weather conditions (Sikarwar et al., 2016). Depending on the nature of AFW, the moisture content generally varies from 5% to 35%, which is converted into steam at a temperature of around 100 °C. This makes them more suitable for thermal conversion since most gasifiers are designed to accommodate the feedstock. A lot of AFWs possess a higher amount of moisture, which causes energy loss and degrades the quality of the product. Usually, drying is done prior to gasification to counter this problem. The moisture contents of some AFW are shown in Table S2

Table 3	
Fundamental Reactions and chemical reaction energy of gasification process.	

Classification	Elementary reaction		Chemical reaction heat (△H, kJ/mol)
Drying	Moist feedstock \rightarrow feedstock + H ₂ O	(2)	-
Pyrolysis	Feedstock \rightarrow char + volatiles ^a	(3)	-
	$C + O_2 \rightarrow CO_2$	(4)	-394.0
	$C + 1/2 O_2 \rightarrow CO$	(5)	-111.0
Oxidation	$H_2 + 1/2 O_2 \rightarrow H_2 O$	(6)	-242.0
	$CO + 1/2 O_2 \rightarrow CO_2$	(7)	-284.0
	$CH_4 + 2O_2 \rightarrow 2CO_2 + 2H_2O$	(8)	-803.0
	$C + CO_2 \rightarrow 2CO^b$	(9)	172.6
	$C + H_2 O \rightarrow CO + {H_2}^c$	(10)	131.4
Reduction	$\rm CO+H_2O\rightarrow CO_2+H_2{}^d$	(11)	-42.3
	$C+ 2H_2 \rightarrow CH_4^e$	(12)	-75.0
	$CH_4 + H_2O \rightarrow CO + 3H_2^{f}$	(13)	206.3
Tar cracking	$Tar + H_2O \rightarrow CO + H_2 + CO_2 + C_xH_y{}^g$	(14)	-

^a CO, CO₂, H₂, CH₄, H₂O (g).

^b Boudouard reaction.

^c Reforming of char.

^d Water gas shift (WGS) reaction.

^e Methanation reaction.

^f Steam reforming of methane.

^g Steam reforming of tar.

(Biagini et al., 2015; Han et al., 2017; Li et al., 2018; Sikarwar et al., 2016; Szamosi et al., 2017; Zeng et al., 2017).

It's clear from Table S2 that rice husk, wheat straw, rape straw, switchgrass, miscanthus and pine sawdust are preferred over rice straw, corn stalks, bagasse, willow, wood bark, poplar and sawdust for gasification, based on low moisture content, which is one important factor for selection of the gasifier. The low moisture content is favorable since it has a lower energy penalty in the drying process prior to gasification.

4.1.2. Pyrolysis

The pyrolysis reactions take place with temperatures in the range of 200-700 °C (Molino et al., 2016; Sfakiotakis and Vamvuka, 2018). They are endothermic and, as in the drying step, the heat required comes from the oxidation stage of the process. At low temperatures, the kinetics of the reactions may be the limiting step, while at higher temperatures the heat transfer or the product diffusion may become the limiting step. During pyrolysis, both the process of drying and reduction of molecular weight takes place simultaneously, while the moisture gets removed below 200 °C. When the temperature increases to 300 °C, the reduction of the molecular weight of the AFW constituent's mainly amorphous cellulose starts with the formation of carbonyl and carboxyl group radicals. When the temperature exceeds 300 °C, the resultant crystalline cellulose is decomposed with the formation of char, tar, and gaseous products. The hemicellulose is decomposed into the soluble polymer with the formation of volatile gases, char, and tar. The lignin gets decomposed at a higher temperature varying from 300 to 500 °C forming methanol, acetic acid, water, and acetone (Sansaniwal et al., 2017). In short, the large main biopolymers such as, cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin get converted into the carbon and medium-size molecules (CO, CO₂, H₂, CH₄, etc.) and the pyrolysis process is shown in the reaction (3) of Table 3 and Fig. 6 (Basu, 2013a).

4.1.3. Oxidation

Most gasification reactions are generally endothermic. To provide the required heat for the reaction, drying, and pyrolysis, a certain amount of exothermic combustion reaction is allowed in a gasifier. During the oxidation process, the volatile materials from the AFW get oxidized under exothermic chemical reactions and generate the heat with peak temperature varying from 1100 to 1500 °C with gaseous fuels like CO, H₂, CO₂ and H₂O (Sansaniwal et al., 2017). Oxidation reactions are generally faster than gasification reactions under similar conditions. Table S4 compares the rate of oxidation and gasification for a biomass char at a typical gasifier temperature of 900 °C (Reed, 2002). The oxidation rates are at least one order of magnitude faster than the gasification reaction rate. Owing to pore diffusion resistance, finer char particles' oxidation (or combustion) has a much higher reaction rate. The main reactions that take place during the oxidation phase can be schematized with the reactions (4)–(8) in Table 3.

4.1.4. Reduction

The reduction step involves the products of the preceding stages of pyrolysis and oxidation, where the gas mixture and the char react with each other resulting in the formation of the final syngas. The main chemical reactions occurring in the reduction step are listed in Table 3 (reactions 9–13). The gasification process not only produces the useful gas but also some undesirable by-products (such as NO_x , SO₂, tar, etc.). The biggest obstacle in the utilization of the producer gas is too much tar, which will reduce the AFW utilization efficiency. The temperature at which the reduction step is carried out has a fundamental role in determining the composition of the syngas and characteristics of the solid residue (such as tar). The influences of temperature are depicted graphically in Fig. S7 (Molino et al., 2016). The formation of tar particles can be controlled by setting up adequate temperature conditions ensuring thermal decomposition in the reduction zone. High temperatures increase the oxidation of solid residue and reduce the formation of tar (Fig. S7). A temperature of 1000 °C in the reduction zone has been reported suitable for the requisite reduction of tar particles (Valderrama Rios et al., 2018).

4.2. Gasifying technologies

Gasifying medium (also called "agent") plays a vital role in the gasification process, which reacts with solid carbon and heavier hydrocarbons to convert them into low-molecular-weight gases like CO and H₂. The main gasifying agents used for gasification are air, steam, and oxygen. The choice of gasifying agent affects the heating value of the product gas as well. Table S5 summarizes the heating values of three gasification agents (Basu, 2013b; Parthasarathy and Narayanan, 2014; Saxena et al., 2008). Oxygen gasification has a higher heating value compared to air and steam gasification (Table S5). Air results in the



Fig. 6. Pyrolysis process in biomass material (Basu, 2013a).

lowest heating value in the product gas primarily due to the dilution effect of nitrogen.

4.2.1. Gasifying in air

Air is the most common agent for gasification because it is abundant in nature and inexpensive to employ. The performance of air gasification heavily depends on the equivalence ratio (ER), which is the ratio of the actual air-fuel ratio to the stoichiometric air-fuel ratio. For the quality of gas obtained from a gasifier, the value of ER must be significantly below 1.0 to ensure that the fuel is gasified rather than combusted. In practical scenarios, the ER's value is normally maintained within the range of 0.20-0.30. Basu et al. studied that the variation in carbon conversion efficiency of a circulating fluidized-bed (CFB) gasifier for wood dust against the ER (Basu, 2013c). Higher ER (>0.4) results in lower H₂ and CO yields, with an increase in CO₂ amount, which causes a decrease in the heating value of the gas. Conversely, an excessively low ER value (<0.2) results in several problems, including incomplete gasification, excessive char formation, and a low heating value of the product gas (Hamad et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2015). Liu et al. (2018) demonstrated the results of gasification change according to a variation of equivalence ratio (ER) from 0.15 to 0.24 with airflow rate 0.6 Nm³/h during gasification at 700 °C. With the rising ER, an increasing degree of combustion reactions releases heat to intensify tar secondary cracking reaction. Adding air as gasification agent can promote oxidation reaction from CO and O₂ to CO₂ and promote complete oxidation reaction of fixed carbon and O₂, thus the CO₂ rises and the CO drops.

4.2.2. Gasifying with steam

Superheated steam is used as a gasification medium either alone, with air, or with oxygen. It contributes to the generation of hydrogen (see Reaction 10 in Table 3) with a higher heating value compared to air and oxygen gasification. The ratio of steam-to-biomass (S/B) is an influential parameter that affects the input energy requirements, outlet gas guality and product yields (Parthasarathy and Narayanan, 2014). Low S/B ratios result in higher amounts of char and CH₄ whereas increasing S/B positively enhances the reforming reactions by providing an oxidative environment, thereby raising the oxidized product gas yield. Hernández et al. discovered that as the S/B increased, the H₂ and CO₂ content in the gas increased while the CO and CH₄ decreased. Steam also reduces the content of recalcitrant by-products during the gasification process (Hernández et al., 2012). Kihedu et al. compared air and air-stream gasification of biomass pellets in a packed bed reactor, where air gasification resulted in a tar content of 75.3 g/m³ of gas while that of air-stream gasification produced a lower tar content of 58.7 g/m³ of gas (Kihedu et al., 2016).

4.2.3. Gasifying with oxygen

Oxygen employed as a gasification agent is used primarily to provide the thermal energy needed for the endothermic gasification reactions. The bulk of this heat is generated through the partial and/or complete oxidation reactions of carbon (see Reaction 4 and 5 in Table 3). If oxygen is used as the gasifying agent, the products include CO for a low amount of oxygen and CO₂ for high oxygen. The equilibrium calculations show that as the oxygen-to-carbon (O/C) ratio in the feed increases, CH₄, CO, and hydrogen in the product decreases but CO₂ and H₂O in the product increases. Hamad et al. (2016) exploded the equivalence ratio (ER) for the gasification of cotton stalks by changing the weight of biomass while keeping the amount of oxygen constant. The effect of ER on the gasification process was studied by varying the ratio in the range of 0.12–0.4. In this range, minimum char production was achieved for an ER of 0.4 while the gas yield was the highest. Table S6 shows that increasing ER means a lower heating value of produced gas and lower hydrogen content. An ER of 0.25 was determined to be the best ratio for gasification under the investigated experimental conditions, which gives more gas and higher hydrogen yield.

4.3. Products from syngas

The AFW which is low in ash content is generally employed for syngas production, because high ash content causes slagging, such as rice husk. Syngas is one of the key products of AFW gasification and is a blend of CO and H₂ (as depicted in Reaction 15), which is a vital source of environmentally benign fuels and chemicals (Huber and Corma, 2007; Wilhelm et al., 2001). For many years, biomass-derived syngas has been used as a raw material in different thermochemical processes for the production of second-generation biofuels (Demirbas, 2011), both liquids, (such as methanol, ethanol, dimethylether (DME), and Fischer-Tropsch diesel) and gaseous (such as hydrogen and synthetic natural gas (SNG)) (Yan et al., 2010). Spath and Dayton (Molino et al., 2018; Spath and Dayton, 2003) carried out a technoeconomic screening for the production of fuels and chemicals from biomass-derived syngas, identifying several syngas conversion routes to methanol and its derivatives, such as DEM, ethanol, Fischer-Tropsch (FT) synthesis, hydrogen, and SNG. These products can be divided into two broad groups: (1) transportation fuels (e.g., hydrogen, biogas and biodiesel), and (2) chemical feedstock (e.g., methanol, ammonia and dimethylether).

$$CH_xO_y + (1-y)H_2O \rightarrow CO + (0.5x-y+1)H_2$$
 (15)

4.3.1. Hydrogen as transportation fuel

Transport fuel and a large number of chemicals are produced from different syntheses of CO and H_2 (Brown, 2019). Currently, the predominant share of hydrogen is produced from steam reforming of hydrocarbons such as natural gas, coal and oil. Only 5% of hydrogen is produced from other renewable sources such as biomass (Parthasarathy and Narayanan, 2014; Sinigaglia et al., 2017). As fossil fuels are declining and the Greenhouse effect is causing problems, it is high time to look for an alternative source of hydrogen generation in the near future. During the gasifying agents, pure steam gasification (see Reaction 15 in Section 4.3) produces higher H_2 /CO and hydrogen yield (Yao et al., 2016). Hydrogen-rich gas can be produced from AFW gasification using steam as a gasifying agent. After the transformation of biomass into syngas, the gas mixture is further treated in the same way as the product gas of the pyrolysis process, as shown in Fig. 7.

At present, H₂ is considered a valuable and clean alternative to fossil fuel that feeds low-temperature fuel cells, such as proton exchange membrane (PEM), and allows electric energy conversion, avoiding pollutant and greenhouse gas emissions (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). AFWs are renewable energy sources that can be used to produce hydrogen sustainably. Hydrogen recovery from AFWs is sufficient to satisfy the present and future hydrogen demands (Dou et al., 2019). A lot of technologies exist for transforming the energy-rich biomass into hydrogen. Summary of hydrogen generation from various AFWs sources are given in Table 4.

4.3.2. Liquid hydrocarbons by Fisher-Tropsch synthesis

Syngas can directly be transformed to liquid hydrocarbons such as diesel and kerosene fuels and/or gases via a number of distinct processes, such as Fischer-Tropsch Synthesis (FTS) (Lappas and Heracleous, 2016). The interest in FTS increased owing to its importance in the production of oil from biomass (Kreutz et al., 2008). The FT process can produce hydrocarbons of different lengths from syngas originating from any carbon-containing feedstock, such as AFWs. The composition of biodiesel, gasoline and biogas may not be exactly the same as in petroleum, but they perform the same task with near zero carbon emission, which is one of the most promising routes for the production of sustainable fuels. The production of synthetic biofuels comprises three basic steps in all FT processes: gasification of the feedstock (AFWs) for production of synthesis gas (CO and H₂) and gas cleaning/conditioning, FTS for middle distillates production, and



Fig. 7. Flow diagram of the biomass gasification process (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).

upgrading of the FT liquids to high-quality fuel products (Kim et al., 2016; Luque et al., 2012). These three main sections are illustrated in Fig. 8.

FTS reaction produces a range of hydrocarbon for use as transport fuel like gasoline, diesel, and as chemical feedstock. They include some desirable products like olefins, paraffins, and alcohols, and some undesirable products like methane, aldehyde, acids, ketone, and carbon, etc. Generally, the Fischer-Tropsch process as represented by the reaction 16 (Ail and Dasappa, 2016), is operated in the temperature range of 150–300 °C to avoid high methane byproduct formation (see the reaction 17) and the pressure range of one to several tens of atmospheres to favor formation of desired long-chain alkanes (see the reaction 18, 19 and 20).

$$n CO + 2n H_2 \rightarrow (CH_2)_n + n H_2O \Delta H^{\circ} (250^{\circ}C, n = 1)$$

= 158.5kJ/mol (16)

where " $(CH_2)_n$ " represents a product consisting mainly of paraffinic hydrocarbons of variable chain length.

$$CO + 3 H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + H_2O \tag{17}$$

 $Paraffins: \ n \ CO \ + \ (2n+1) \ H_2 {\rightarrow} C_n H_{2n+2} + n \ H_2 O \eqno(18)$

Olefins :
$$n \operatorname{CO} + 2n \operatorname{H}_2 \rightarrow C_n \operatorname{H}_{2n} + n \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O}$$
 (19)

 $Alcohol: \ n \ CO + 2n \ H_2 \rightarrow C_n H_{2n+1} OH \ + \ (n-1) \ H_2 O \eqno(20)$

The catalysts play a pivotal role in the FTS process. Many studies found that Group VIII metals have highest catalytic activity in FTS reaction. The FT reaction is catalyzed mainly by Fe, Co, Ni and Ru catalysts (Gavrilović et al., 2018; Luque et al., 2012), which possess sufficiently high hydrogenation activity for use in the synthesis process. Currently, there are two operating modes for the FT reactors: high temperature mode (300–350 °C) and low temperature mode (200–240 °C). Most common reactors include fixed-bed reactor, bubbling fluidized bed reactor, slurry-bed reactor, and circulating fluidized-bed reactor (Klerk and Furimsky, 2011).

Many studies have considered production of FT liquid transportation fuels (such as biodiesel) from a variety of AFW sources, especially when used in combination with solar or wind energy (Samavati et al., 2018). Müller, et al. investigated the integration of hydrogen from wind power promoting a combined power-to-gas and biomass-to-liquid process (Müller et al., 2018). The results showed that an increased gas stream feed, enabled by the addition of hydrogen from wind power, leads to an increased output of Fischer-Tropsch products (diesel and kerosene). Gruber et al. presented a new insight, "Wind diesel" technology, which enabled the integrative use of excess electricity combined with biomass-based fuel production (Gruber et al., 2019). The experiments showed that integrating renewable H₂ into a biomass (wood chips-to-liquid), the Fischer-Tropsch concept could increase the productivity while product distribution remains almost the same. In the solid FT fraction, a n-paraffin of up to 82.2 wt% was determined, whereas in the liquid fraction the maximal reported n-paraffin was 77.7 wt%.

4.3.3. Chemical feedstock

Syngas is used not only as an energy source but also as a feedstock for the production of "green chemicals." Commercially it finds use in two major areas: (1) alcohols (e.g., methanol and higher alcohols) and (2) chemicals (e.g., glycerol, fumaric acid, and dimethylether). When syngas from AFW gasification is used for chemical production, the cleaning of the raw gas is needed strictly in order to remove contaminants and potential catalyst poisons (such as particulate matter, alkaline

Table 4

Summary of several representative studies of hydrogen production from AFW gasification.

Feedstock	Gasifying medium	Conditions	Products	Reference
Pine sawdust	Air-steam	700–900 °C in a fluidized bed	H_2 (20–40%), CO, CO ₂ , CH ₄ and C ₂ H ₄	(Lv et al., 2004)
Pine sawdust ^a	Steam	600–850 °C in a fluidized bed	H_2 (30–52%), CO, CO ₂ , CH ₄ and C ₂ H ₄	(Yan et al., 2010)
Wood pellets	Air-steam	Max, temp. of 950–1150 °C in a fixed bed gasifier	H_2 (25–35%), CO, CO ₂ , CH ₄	(Plis and Wilk, 2011)
Woody biomass and agriculture residue" Pine and spruce wood	Steam-oxygen Steam/CO2 ^c Supercritical	Circulating fluidized bed gasifier 1000–1400 °C in a solar reactor	H ₂ (20–25%), CO, CO ₂ H ₂ (35–40%), CO, CO ₂ , CH ₄	(Meng et al., 2011) (Bellouard et al., 2017)
Waste biomass ^a	water	Tubular batch reactor, NiCe/Al ₂ O ₃	H ₂ (30–40%), CO ₂ , CH ₄ , C2-C4	(Kang et al., 2016)
Wheat straw	Steam	A two-stage fixed bed, Ni/AC catalyst	H ₂ (35–75%), CO, CO ₂ and CH ₄	(Yao et al., 2016)
Wood residue	Air-steam	A research scale fluidized bed, Ni/CeO ₂ /Al ₂ O ₃	H ₂ (24–42%), CO, CO ₂ , CH ₄ , C ₂ H ₄	(Peng et al., 2017)

^a The actual feedstock was biomass char, which was produced by fast pyrolysis liquefaction of pine sawdust in a fixed-bed reactor.

^b Agro, willow, and DDGS (dry distiller's grains with soluble).

^c Solar gasification.

^d Canola meal, wheat straw and timothy grass.



Fig. 8. Schematic line-up of the biofuel production from AFWs via gasification and FTS (Kim et al., 2016; Luque et al., 2012).

metals, sulfides, nitrides and halides, etc.) (Woolcock and Brown, 2013) as well as to achieve the qualitative composition required by the chemical production process. In order to enhance the chemical production process, the production of syngas has to be carried out in operative conditions required for its end use as much as possible, especially the steam-reforming step and the WGS reaction. The following section briefly describes the production of some of these products.

$$CO + 2H_2 \leftrightarrow CH_3OH - 90.6kJ/mol$$
 (21)

Methanol is produced through the synthesis of syngas (CO and H_2) in the presence of catalysts (see Reaction 21), which is an important feedstock for the production of several chemicals such as olefins as well as for fuels such as gasoline over zeolite catalysts (Venvik and Yang, 2017). Methanol synthesis is an exothermic reaction influenced by both temperature and pressure. As a result, the yield of methanol increases with pressure (in the 50–300 atm range) but decreases with temperature (in the 240-400 °C range). In the absence of a suitable catalyst, the actual yield is very low, and catalysts are used based on Zn, Cu, Al, and Pd (Behrens et al., 2012). The dominating catalyst is Cu-based, promoted with Zn(O), containing a typical support material such as alumina in industrial production (Li et al., 2019). This catalyst has high selectivity to methanol and exhibits a cost advantage compared to the other materials active in this reaction: e.g. Pd, Pt. There are some possible disadvantages, such as the tendency towards sintering at temperatures greater than 270-300 °C. It is a reaction mechanism that requires carbon dioxide to be present in the feed, resulting in water as a by-product in the reaction (Porosoff et al., 2016). Considering the above questions, many researchers have shown that doping or using noble metal catalysts can improve the sintering and methanol selectivity. Supported palladium has been suggested as an alternative catalyst because the reaction mechanism proceeds via carbon monoxide and it is possibly a more active metal than copper. Pd based catalysts may be an alternative to Cu-based catalyst as they possess better tolerance towards Sulfur poisoning, which is becoming increasingly important for coal or biomass derived synthesis gas feed (Phan et al., 2016). Both Pd/CeO₂ catalysts show high initial activity in the stacked foil micro structured reactor (SFMR) and fixed-bed reactor (FBR), respectively, but deactivate significantly to reach steady state after 60-120 h on the stream.

$$2 \text{ CH}_3\text{OH} \leftrightarrow \text{CH}_3\text{OCH}_3 + \text{H}_2\text{O} - 23.4\text{kJ/mol}$$
(22)

$$3CO + 3H_2 \rightarrow CH_3OCH_3 + CO_2 - 246.0 \text{kJ/mol}$$

$$(23)$$

 $2CO + 4H_2 \rightarrow CH_3OCH_3 + H_2O - 205.0kJ/mol$ (24)

5. Biofuel and chemical production in circular economy

Waste has in Europe become a resource in a short period of time after the idea of Circular economy (CE) was spreading through the

continent. The trade and business sector estimates that circular economy-type economic transitions may add up to 600 billion euros annual economic gains for the EU manufacturing sector (Beaulieu et al., 2016; COM, 2015; EMAF, 2015). China has been in the forefront promoting the idea of CE already several years ago by being the first country in the world, to even adopt a law about the circular economy in 2008 (Beaulieu et al., 2016). CE is associated with a variety of concepts, and waste management emerges as the most relevant sub-sector.

AFW treatment deals with material and energy flow in the society. When looking at the traditional material and energy flow it is typically linear that has been described as extract-produce-use-dump material model visioned by Frosch and Gallopoulo (1989). That way of handling material use is not sustainable. Activities abiding this model has instigated a lot of damage in the world where urbanization has been and still is the dominating societal trend causing ecological shortcomings affecting human life and the environment where we live. The circular economy provides a different model for material and energy flow that is circular, which should and could be the basic principle in biofuel production.

5.1. Linear or circular model of economy

What is then wrong with the typically linear model? The model can be described by the 'parent system' with the economic system being part of that. The parent system has also physical dimensions and the size of different ecosystems has been shrinking exemplified by deforestation and growing desert areas. The parent system used to be more constant but now its quality is continuously threatened and is not able to produce traditional ecosystem services as in the past (Korhonen et al., 2018). The climate change is leading to rise in sea level and reduced spaces of habitable land in the pacific area. The economic system is growing and spreading, but is in conflict with the parent system causing clashes like the reduction of the Amazon rain forest in Brazil at the moment where the Brazilian state wants to capitalize the rich natural resources in the region to boost biofuel production to improve the national economy (Ferrante and Fearnside, 2020). In this linear model, wastes are just dumbed back to nature causing pollution and lowering of the quality of the parent system with global consequences in change of weather conditions to more extreme events of draught or heavy rainfalls causing floods and landslides in other parts of the world. The economic system is competing with the parent system tearing it down by not recognizing ecological facts governing the life on earth.

The solution to combatting this harmful development in linear material and energy flow is to adopt the opposite circular model, which would mean careful use of resources aiming at zero waste (Geissdoerfer et al., 2018). Once the raw material has been extracted and manufactured to a product, it makes economic sense to keep its value in circulation as long as possible. The thought is to use and recycle materials in as high value products as possible and keep it in active use as long as possible. It is fundamental to retain the high value of the product/material/service (Ludekefreund et al., 2019). That will demand that they from the beginning are designed to be used for multiple lifecycles and at the end the products will return (with appropriate business model) and they will be remanufactured for use in the next lifecycles.

5.2. The path of economy to sustainability

The multiple life cycles encompass the return of materials/energy to nature. Materials like bioenergy, pulp, paper and timber, can be part of nature economy-nature-economy etc. cycles. Wastes should and are part of joint renewable cycles. In the economic realm of cradle-to-cradle business there are "biological nutrients" contained by industries where biomass is released back to biosphere contributing to biomass growth and biodiversity which supports nature and in turn will support the resource basis of economics in nature (Korhonen et al., 2018).

The challenges for implementing CE are great because approximately 75% of the energy production is currently based on nonrenewable sources taken from the lithosphere, which are combusted. This leads to emissions to biosphere overloading the natural system. This situation shows very barely, where we are now and that there is a long way globally to go to reach the current CE visions (Korhonen et al., 2018). The increased growth of biomass may help society to substitute non-renewable and emission intensive fossil fuels but unfortunately, a lot of nutrient rich biomass is combusted for energy. A CE type of solution is to utilize the resources nutrient value better, like in deliberate nutrient cycles to produce food. The point here is that nutrients are used before combustion, so that these nutrients are not lost. Here is the great opportunity for CE to use existing nutrient cycles in nature.

Korhonen et al. put forward ideas that apply to modern CE systems to extend current business or corporate environmental management systems encouraging inter-sectoral, inter-organizational and inter-life cycle material cycles and energy cascades (Korhonen et al., 2004, 2018). The goal is to receive the highest economic resources value. In this vision CE is inter-organizational and network environmental sustainability management (Seuring and Gold, 2013). To reach towards this goal much work is needed since Interorganizational systems seem to be self-organized (Chertow and Ehrenfeld, 2012) making the planning, design and management more difficult.

5.3. Planetary boundaries and limitation of natural resources

The most debated planetary boundary of the nine depicted is Climate change. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) formulated a "climate goal" of 2 °C not be exceeded in order to avoid disastrous global effects (Pachauri and Reisinger, 2014). As the warming is induced by CO₂ emissions –it would require that cumulative CO₂ emissions from all anthropogenic sources should remain below some 3650 Gt CO₂ (1000 GtC), but over half this amount has already been emitted by 2011. The use of bio-based resources instead of fossil ones would be a high priority GHG mitigation option.

The planetary boundaries concept presents a set of nine planetary boundaries within which humanity can continue to develop and thrive for generations to come (http://www.stockholmresilience.org/ research/planetary-boundaries.html) (Steffen et al., 2015).

- 1. Stratospheric ozone depletion.
- 2. Loss of biosphere integrity (biodiversity loss and extinctions).
- 3. Chemical pollution and the release of novel entities.
- 4. Climate change.
- 5. Ocean acidification.
- 6. Freshwater consumption and the global hydrological cycle.
- 7. Land system change.
- 8. Nitrogen and phosphorus flows to the biosphere and oceans.
- 9. Atmospheric aerosol loading.

The UN has put forward them as defining the resonant capacity of the Earth and the describing the vulnerability of our natural resources (Steffen et al., 2015). Both the processes of climate change and land system change are already beyond the safe operating zone. The biosphere integrity, such as genetic diversity, and biogeochemical flows (nitrogen and phosphorus flow to the biosphere and oceans as a consequence of industrial and agricultural processes) related to agricultural waste are at high risk.

6. Conclusions and outlook

In recent decades, there has been an increasing effort to reduce the reliance on fossil sources and regulate the greenhouse gas emission. The use of biomass wastes as raw material is becoming a major alternative to fossil fuels or chemicals, since it is widely abundant and relatively inexpensive. AFWs are considered promising alternatives to supply biofuels and/or chemicals by thermochemical liquefaction. Although many lab-scale investigations have been carried out on the thermochemical conversion, commercial production and utilization of biofuels and/or chemicals are still at an early stage. In this review, we have discussed several important factors including AFW pretreatment, reaction medium (or solvent), catalyst development, process optimization, separation of oil and gas, which still need to be systematically performed at bench, pilot scale and even industrial level.

Various pretreatment strategies may give preferred results relying on specific project goals and the choice of feedstock. Because of different properties of AFWs, woody biomass, e.g. poplar or eucalyptus, is more resistant to breakdown than herbaceous biomass such as switchgrass. Many potential green solvent (or medium) options currently already exist, which proves applicability to AFW processing. The availability of these solvents, particularly for neoteric solvents, are necessary for their future development. The choice of solvents (or medium) used for AFW processing will in part determine both the economic viability and environmental sustainability of the thermochemical liquefaction. Eventually, the cost of thermochemical conversion should be reasonable and acceptable.

Biofuel and/or chemical production is technically possible from different types of AFW, that vary with climatic regions in the world. The continuous and stable availability of the biomass is important to ensure upscaling of the refinery process. A great challenge is in different countries to acknowledge pinpoint the different waste streams and start to combine them for production of valuable products in a profitable manner. This endeavor requires multidisciplinary and better communication between different organizations and government bodies. An essential prerequisite is that the growing of the biomass should not compete with food production at agricultural land, but straw residues from crops are of course usable biomass. To ensure sustainability criteria in the process, environmental certification has become an important tool for improving the image of the biofuel product on the market. Overall, the profitability of advanced technologies for AFW treatment has to be studied in a higher degree and the focus in future should be in combining ecological aspects with economic and societal sustainability.

Declaration of competing interest

Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by National Key Technology R&D Program of China (No. 2018YFD0500206), Scientific Research Foundation of Zhejiang A&F University (2034020081 and 2034020096), Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (LY15D010005), the Public Welfare Technology and Social Development Research Project of Zhejiang Province (LGF18D010003) and supported by 111 Project (D18008). We thank reviewers for their positive and constructive comments.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141972.

C. Song, C. Zhang, S. Zhang et al.

References

- Abo, B.O., Gao, M., Wang, Y., Wu, C., Ma, H., Wang, Q., 2019. Lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol: an overview on pretreatment, hydrolysis and fermentation processes. Rev. Environ. Health 34, 57–68.
- Aida, T.M., Shiraishi, N., Kubo, M., Watanabe, M., Smith, R.L., 2010. Reaction kinetics of dxylose in sub- and supercritical water. J. Supercrit. Fluids 55, 208–216. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.supflu.2010.08.013.
- Ail, S.S., Dasappa, S., 2016. Biomass to liquid transportation fuel via Fischer Tropsch synthesis - technology review and current scenario. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 58, 267–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.143.
- Anastasakis, K., Ross, A.B., 2015. Hydrothermal liquefaction of four brown macro-algae commonly found on the UK coasts: an energetic analysis of the process and comparison with bio-chemical conversion methods. Fuel 139, 546–553.
- Bali, G., Meng, X., Deneff, J.I., Sun, Q., Ragauskas, A.J., 2015. The effect of alkaline pretreatment methods on cellulose structure and accessibility. ChemSusChem 8, 275–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201402752.
- Basu, P., 2013a. 5.2 Pyrolysis. Biomass Gasification, Pyrolysis and Torrefaction: Practical Design and Theory. Elsevier Inc, pp. 149–151 https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09781107415324.004.
- Basu, P., 2013b. 7.2.1 Gasifying medium. Biomass Gasification, Pyrolysis and Torrefaction: Practical Design and Theory. Elsevier Inc, pp. 200–201 https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09781107415324.004.
- Basu, P., 2013c. 8.6.2.4 Equivalence ratio. Biomass Gasification, Pyrolysis and Torrefaction: Practical Design and Theory. Elsevier Inc, pp. 277–279 https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09781107415324.004.
- Beaulieu, L., Durne, G., Arpin, M., 2016. Circular Economy: a Critical Literature Review of Concepts, the International Reference Centre for the Life Cycle of Products, Processes and Services (CIRAIG).
- Behrens, M., Studt, F., Kasatkin, I., Kühl, S., Hävecker, M., Abild-pedersen, F., Zander, S., Girgsdies, F., Kurr, P., Kniep, B., Tovar, M., Fischer, R.W., Nørskov, J.K., Schlögl, R., 2012. The active site of methanol synthesis over Cu/ZnO/Al2O3 industrial catalysts. Science 336, 893–897. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1219831.
- Bellouard, Q., Abanades, S., Rodat, S., Dupassieux, N., 2017. Solar thermochemical gasification of wood biomass for syngas production in a high-temperature continuously-fed tubular reactor. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 42, 13486–13497.
- Bentsen, N.S., Felby, C., 2010. Technical Potentials of Biomass for Energy Services from Current Agriculture and Forestry in Selected Countries in Europe, the Americas and Asia., Forest & Landscape Working Papers. Forest & Landscape, Copenhagen.
- Beyene, H.D., Werkneh, A.A., Ambaye, T.G., 2018. Current updates on waste to energy (WtE) technologies: a review. Renew. Energy Focus 24, 1–11. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ref.2017.11.001.
- Biagini, E., Barontini, F., Tognotti, L., 2015. Gasification of agricultural residues in a demonstrative plant: vine pruning and rice husks. Bioresour. Technol. 194, 36–42.
- Brand, S., Kim, J., 2015. Liquefaction of major lignocellulosic biomass constituents in supercritical ethanol. Energy 80, 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2014.11.043.
- Brethauer, S., Studer, M.H., 2015. Biochemical conversion processes of lignocellulosic biomass to fuels and chemicals-a review. CHIMIA Int. J. Chem. 69, 572-581.
- Brown, R.C., 2019. 8. Solvent liquefaction. Thermochemical Processing of Biomass: Conversion into Fuels, Chemicals and Power. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 257–306.
- Cao, F., Schwartz, T.J., McClelland, D.J., Krishna, S.H., Dumesic, J.A., Huber, G.W., 2015. Dehydration of cellulose to levoglucosenone using polar aprotic solvents. Energy Environ. Sci. 8, 1808–1815.
- Cao, L., Zhang, C., Hao, S., Luo, G., Zhang, S., Chen, J., 2016. Effect of glycerol as co-solvent on yields of bio-oil from rice straw through hydrothermal liquefaction. Bioresour. Technol. 220, 471–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.08.110.
- Cao, L., Zhang, C., Chen, H., Tsang, D.C.W., Luo, G., Zhang, S., Chen, J., 2017. Hydrothermal liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes: state-of-the-art review and future prospects. Bioresour. Technol. 245, 1184–1193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2017.08.196.
- Castello, D., Pedersen, T.H., Rosendahl, L.A., 2018. Continuous hydrothermal liquefaction of biomass: a critical review. Energies 11, 3165–3199. https://doi.org/10.3390/ en11113165.
- Centore, M., Hochman, G., Zilberman, D., 2014. Worldwide Survey of Biodegradable Feedstocks, Waste-to-Energy Technologies, and Adoption of Technologies. In: Pinto, A.A., Zilberman, D. (Eds.), Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 163–181.
- Chan, Y.H., Yusup, S., Quitain, A.T., Tan, R.R., Sasaki, M., Lam, H.L., Uemura, Y., 2015. Effect of process parameters on hydrothermal liquefaction of oil palm biomass for bio-oil production and its life cycle assessment. Energy Convers. Manag. 104, 180–188.
- Chen, W.-H., Lin, B.-J., Huang, M.-Y., Chang, J.-S., 2015. Thermochemical conversion of microalgal biomass into biofuels: a review. Bioresour. Technol. 184, 314–327.
 Chen, X., Li, H., Sun, S., Cao, X., Sun, R., 2016. Effect of hydrothermal pretreatment on the
- Chen, X., Li, H., Sun, S., Cao, X., Sun, R., 2016. Effect of hydrothermal pretreatment on the structural changes of alkaline ethanol lignin from wheat straw. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39354.
- Chen, C., Zhu, J., Jia, S., Mi, S., Tong, Z., Li, Z., Li, M., Zhang, Y., Hu, Y., Huang, Z., 2018. Effect of ethanol on mulberry bark hydrothermal liquefaction and bio-oil chemical compositions. Energy 162, 460–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.08.026.
- Chen, W.H., Lin, Y.Y., Liu, H.C., Chen, T.C., Hung, C.H., Chen, C.H., Ong, H.C., 2019. A comprehensive analysis of food waste derived liquefaction bio-oil properties for industrial application. Appl. Energy 237, 283–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.12.084.

Chertow, M., Ehrenfeld, J.R., 2012. Organizing self-organizing systems. J. Ind. Ecol. 16, 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2011.00450.x.

COM, 2015. Closing the Loop – an EU Action Plan for the Circular Economy. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels, 2.12.2015. COM(2015) 614 Final, com. Brussels.

- Correa, D.F., Beyer, H.L., Possingham, H.P., Thomas-Hall, S.R., Schenk, P.M., 2017. Biodiversity impacts of bioenergy production: microalgae vs. first generation biofuels. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 74, 1131–1146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.02.068.
- D'Annunzio, R., Sandker, M., Finegold, Y., Min, Z., 2015. Projecting global forest area towards 2030. For. Ecol. Manag. 352, 124–133.
- Dalena, F., Senatore, A., Marino, A., Gordano, A., Basile, M., Basile, A., 2018. Chapter 1 methanol production and applications: an overview. In: Basile, A., Dalena, F.B.T.-M. (Eds.), Methanol: Science and Engineering. Elsevier, pp. 3–28 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-444-63903-5,00001-7.
- Demirbas, A., 2011. Competitive liquid biofuels from biomass. Appl. Energy 88, 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2010.07.016.
- DESA, UN, 2017. World Population Prospects, United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Popul. Div.
- Dou, B., Zhang, H., Song, Y., Zhao, L., Jiang, B., He, M., Ruan, C., Chen, H., Xu, Y., 2019. Hydrogen production from the thermochemical conversion of biomass: issues and challenges. Sustain. Energy Fuels 3, 314–342. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8se00535d.
- Du, C., Li, Y., Zhao, X., Pei, X., Yuan, W., Bai, F., Jiang, Y., 2019. The production of ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass by Kluyveromyces marxianus CICC 1727-5 and Spathaspora passalidarum ATCC MYA-4345. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 103, 2845–2855.
- Ellis, P.R., Enache, D.I., James, D.W., Jones, D.S., Kelly, G.J., 2019. A robust and precious metal-free high performance cobalt Fischer–Tropsch catalyst. Nat. Catal. 2, 623–631. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41929-019-0288-5.
- EMAF, 2015. Growth within: a circular economy vision for a competitive europe. Sb Bus. Wkly. 1–97.
- Eskiciogu, C., Monlau, F., Barakat, A., Ferrer, I., Kaparaju, P., Trably, E., Carrère, H., 2017. Assessment of hydrothermal pretreatment of various lignocellulosic biomass with CO2 catalyst for enhanced methane and hydrogen production. Water Res. 120, 32–42.
- Fatma, S., Hameed, A., Noman, M., Ahmed, T., Shahid, M., Tariq, M., Sohail, I., Tabassum, R., 2018. Lignocellulosic biomass: a sustainable bioenergy source for the future. Protein Pept. Lett. 25, 148–163.
- Feng, S., Wei, R., Leitch, M., Xu, C.C., 2018. Comparative study on lignocellulose liquefaction in water, ethanol, and water/ethanol mixture: roles of ethanol and water. Energy 155, 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.05.023.
- Ferrante, L., Fearnside, P.M., 2020. The Amazon: biofuels plan will drive deforestation. Nature 577, 170. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00005-8.
- Frosch, R.A., Gallopoulo, N.E., 1989. Strategies for manufacturing. Sci. Am. 261, 601-602.
- Gavrilović, L., Brandin, J., Holmen, A., Venvik, H.J., Myrstad, R., Blekkan, E.A., 2018. Fischer-Tropsch synthesis—investigation of the deactivation of a Co catalyst by exposure to aerosol particles of potassium salt. Appl. Catal. B Environ. 230, 203–209. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2018.02.048.
- Geissdoerfer, M., Morioka, S.N., De Carvalho, M.M., Evans, S., 2018. Business models and supply chains for the circular economy. J. Clean. Prod. 190, 712–721. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.04.159.
- Ghosh, A., Brown, R.C., 2019. Factors influencing cellulosic sugar production during acidcatalyzed solvent liquefaction in 1,4-dioxane. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b05108.
- Ghosh, A., Haverly, M.R., 2019. 8. Solvent liquefaction. Thermochemical Processing of Biomass: Conversion into Fuels, Chemicals and Power, pp. 257–306 https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9781119417637.ch8.
- Gruber, H., Groß, P., Rauch, R., Reichhold, A., Zweiler, R., Aichernig, C., Müller, S., Ataimisch, N., Hofbauer, H., 2019. Fischer-Tropsch products from biomass-derived syngas and renewable hydrogen. Biomass Convers. Biorefinery, 1–12 https://doi. org/10.1007/s13399-019-00459-5.
- Gunawan, R., Li, X., Lievens, C., Gholizadeh, M., Chaiwat, W., Hu, X., Mourant, D., Bromly, J., Li, C.-Z., 2013. Upgrading of bio-oil into advanced biofuels and chemicals. Part I. Transformation of GC-detectable light species during the hydrotreatment of bio-oil using Pd/C catalyst. Fuel 111, 709–717.
- Haarlemmer, G., Guizani, C., Anouti, S., Déniel, M., Roubaud, A., Valin, S., 2016. Analysis and comparison of bio-oils obtained by hydrothermal liquefaction and fast pyrolysis of beech wood. Fuel 174, 180–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2016.01.082.
- Hamad, M.A., Radwan, A.M., Heggo, D.A., Moustafa, T., 2016. Hydrogen rich gas production from catalytic gasification of biomass. Renew. Energy 85, 1290–1300. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2015.07.082.
- Han, J., Liang, Y., Hu, J., Qin, L., Street, J., Lu, Y., Yu, F., 2017. Modeling downdraft biomass gasification process by restricting chemical reaction equilibrium with Aspen Plus. Energy Convers. Manag. 153, 641–648.
- Helmer Pedersen, T., Conti, F., 2017. Improving the circular economy via hydrothermal processing of high-density waste plastics. Waste Manag. 68, 24–31. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.wasman.2017.06.002.
- Hernández, J.J., Aranda, G., Barba, J., Mendoza, J.M., 2012. Effect of steam content in the air-steam flow on biomass entrained flow gasification. Fuel Process. Technol. 99, 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2012.01.030.
- Huang, H.J., Yuan, X.Z., 2015. Recent progress in the direct liquefaction of typical biomass. Prog. Energy Combust. Sci. 49, 59–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2015.01.003.
- Huber, G.W., Corma, A., 2007. Synergies between bio- and oil refineries for the production of fuels from biomass. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 46, 7184–7201. https://doi.org/10.1002/ anie.200604504.
- Huber, G.W., Iborra, S., Corma, A., 2006. Synthesis of transportation fuels from biomass_ chemistry, catalysts, and engineering. Chem. Rev. 106, 4044–4098. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/cr068360d.
- Isa, K.M., Abdullah, T.A.T., Ali, U.F.M., 2018. Hydrogen donor solvents in liquefaction of biomass: a review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 81, 1259–1268. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rser.2017.04.006.

- Isha, R., Williams, P.T., 2011. Pyrolysis-gasification of agriculture biomass wastes for hydrogen production. J. Energy Inst. 84, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1179/ 014426011X12968328625432.
- Jin, L., Li, W., Liu, Q., Wang, J., Zhu, Y., Xu, Z., Wei, X., Zhang, Q., 2018. Liquefaction of Kraft lignin over the composite catalyst HTaMoO6 and Rh/C in dioxane-water system. Fuel Process. Technol. 178, 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2018.05.014.
- Jindal, M.K., Jha, M.K., 2016. Effect of process parameters on hydrothermal liquefaction of waste furniture sawdust for bio-oil production. RSC Adv. 6, 41772–41780.
- Jing, Y., Guo, Y., Xia, Q., Liu, X., Wang, Y., 2019. Catalytic production of value-added chemicals and liquid fuels from lignocellulosic biomass. Chem 5, 2520–2546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chempr.2019.05.022.
- Kang, S., Li, X., Fan, J., Chang, J., 2013. Hydrothermal conversion of lignin: a review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 27, 546–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.07.013.
- Kang, K., Azargohar, R., Dalai, A.K., Wang, H., 2016. Hydrogen production from lignin, cellulose and waste biomass via supercritical water gasification: catalyst activity and process optimization study. Energy Convers. Manag. 117, 528–537. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.enconman.2016.03.008.
- Kihedu, J.H., Yoshiie, R., Naruse, I., 2016. Performance indicators for air and air-steam auto-thermal updraft gasification of biomass in packed bed reactor. Fuel Process. Technol. 141, 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2015.07.015.
- Kim, Y.-D., Yang, C.-W., Kim, B.-J., Moon, J.-H., Jeong, J.-Y., Jeong, S.-H., Lee, S.-H., Kim, J.-H., Seo, M.-W., Lee, S.-B., Kim, J.-K., Lee, U.-D., 2016. Fischer–tropsch diesel production and evaluation as alternative automotive fuel in pilot-scale integrated biomass-to-liquid process. Appl. Energy 180, 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.07.095.
- Klerk, A. de, Furimsky, E., 2011. Catalysis in the refining of Fischer–Tropsch Syncrude. Platin. Met. Rev. 55, 279–283. https://doi.org/10.1595/147106711X593717.
- Korhonen, J., Von Malmborg, F., Strachan, P.A., Ehrenfeld, J.R., 2004. Management and policy aspects of industrial ecology: an emerging research agenda. Bus. Strateg. Environ. 13, 289–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.415.
- Korhonen, J., Honkasalo, A., Seppala, J., 2018. Circular economy: the concept and its limitations. Ecol. Econ. 143, 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.06.041.
- Kreutz, T.G., Larson, E.D., Liu, G., Williams, R.H., 2008. Fischer-Tropsch Fuels from Coal and Biomass, in: 25th Annual International Pittsburgh Coal Conference. Princeton University Pittsburg, p. e2.
- Kruse, A., Dahmen, N., 2015. Water a magic solvent for biomass conversion. J. Supercrit. Fluids 96, 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2014.09.038.
- Kumar, S., Gupta, R., Lee, Y.Y., Gupta, R.B., 2010. Cellulose pretreatment in subcritical water: effect of temperature on molecular structure and enzymatic reactivity. Bioresour. Technol. 101, 1337–1347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.09.035.
- Lai, C., Jia, Y., Wang, J., Wang, R., Zhang, Q., Chen, L., Shi, H., Huang, C., Li, X., Yong, Q., 2019. Co-production of xylooligosaccharides and fermentable sugars from poplar through acetic acid pretreatment followed by poly (ethylene glycol) ether assisted alkali treatment. Bioresour. Technol. 288, 121569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.121569.
- Lappas, A., Heracleous, E., 2016. 18 production of biofuels via Fischer–Tropsch synthesis: Biomass-to-liquids. In: Luque, R., Lin, C.S.K., Wilson, K., Clark, J.B.T.-H., BP (Eds.), Handbook of Biofuels Production (Second Edition) Processes and Technologies, Second E Woodhead Publishing, pp. 549–593 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100455-5.00018-7.
- Li, C., Zhao, X., Wang, A., Huber, G.W., Zhang, T., 2015. Catalytic transformation of lignin for the production of chemicals and fuels. Chem. Rev. 115, 11559–11624. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00155.
- Li, X., Zhang, X., Shao, S., Dong, L., Zhang, J., Hu, C., Cai, Y., 2018. Catalytic upgrading of pyrolysis vapor from rape straw in a vacuum pyrolysis system over La/HZSM-5 with hierarchical structure. Bioresour. Technol. 259, 191–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2018.03.046.
- Li, M., Jiao, L., Nawaz, M.A., Cheng, L., Meng, C., Yang, T., Tariq, M., Liu, D., 2019. A one-step synthesis method of durene directly from syngas using integrated catalyst of Cu/ZnO/ Al2O3 and Co-Nb/HZSM-5. Chem. Eng. Sci. 200, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ces.2019.02.006.
- Lin, Q., Li, H., Ren, J., Deng, A., Li, W., Liu, C., Sun, R., 2017a. Production of xylooligosaccharides by microwave-induced, organic acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of different xylan-type hemicelluloses: optimization by response surface methodology. Carbohydr. Polym. 157, 214–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.09.091.
- Lin, Y., Liang, J., Zeng, C., Wang, D., Lin, H., 2017b. Anaerobic digestion of pulp and paper mill sludge pretreated by microbial consortium OEM1 with simultaneous degradation of lignocellulose and chlorophenols. Renew. Energy 108, 108–115.
- Liu, Z., Zhang, F.-S., 2008. Effects of various solvents on the liquefaction of biomass to produce fuels and chemical feedstocks. Energy Convers. Manag. 49, 3498–3504. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2008.08.009.
- Liu, L., Huang, Y., Cao, J., Liu, C., Dong, L., Xu, L., Zha, J., 2018. Experimental study of biomass gasification with oxygen-enriched air in fluidized bed gasifier. Sci. Total Environ. 626, 423–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.016.
- Ludekefreund, F., Gold, S., Bocken, N., 2019. A review and typology of circular economy business model patterns. J. Ind. Ecol. 23, 36–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12763.
- Luque, R., De La Osa, A.R., Campelo, J.M., Romero, A.A., Valverde, J.L., Sanchez, P., 2012. Design and development of catalysts for Biomass-To-Liquid-Fischer-Tropsch (BTL-FT) processes for biofuels production. Energy Environ. Sci. 5, 5186–5202. https://doi. org/10.1039/c1ee02238e.
- Luterbacher, J.S., Rand, J.M., Alonso, D.M., Han, J., Youngquist, J.T., Maravelias, C.T., Pfleger, B.F., Dumesic, J.A., 2014. Nonenzymatic sugar production from biomass using biomass-derived γ-valerolactone. Science 343, 277–280.
- Lv, P.M., Xiong, Z.H., Chang, J., Wu, C.Z., Chen, Y., Zhu, J.X., 2004. An experimental study on biomass air-steam gasification in a fluidized bed. Bioresour. Technol. 95, 95–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2004.02.003.
- Lyu, H., Chen, K., Yang, X., Younas, R., Zhu, X., Luo, G., Zhang, S., Chen, J., 2015. Two-stage nanofiltration process for high-value chemical production from hydrolysates of

lignocellulosic biomass through hydrothermal liquefaction. Sep. Purif. Technol. 147, 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2015.04.032.

- Meng, X., de Jong, W., Fu, N., Verkooijen, A.H.M., 2011. Biomass gasification in a 100 kWth steam-oxygen blown circulating fluidized bed gasifier: effects of operational conditions on product gas distribution and tar formation. Biomass Bioenergy 35, 2910–2924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.03.028.
- Meryemoğlu, B., Hasanoğlu, A., Irmak, S., Erbatur, O., 2014. Biofuel production by liquefaction of kenaf (Hibiscus cannabinus L.) biomass. Bioresour. Technol. 151, 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.10.085.
- Millati, R., Cahyono, R.B., Ariyanto, T., Azzahrani, I.N., Putri, R.U., Taherzadeh, M.J., 2019. Chapter 1 - agricultural, industrial, municipal, and forest wastes: an overview. In: Taherzadeh, M.J., Bolton, K., Wong, J., Pandey, A., Z.W.A (Eds.), Sustainable Resource Recovery and Zero Waste Approaches. Elsevier, pp. 1–22 https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-444-64200-4.00001-3.
- Minami, E., Saka, S., 2003. Comparison of the decomposition behaviors of hardwood and softwood in supercritical methanol. J. Wood Sci. 49, 73–78.
- Mohapatra, S., Mishra, S.S., Bhalla, P., Thatoi, H., 2019. Engineering grass biomass for sustainable and enhanced bioethanol production. Planta 1–18.
- Molino, A., Chianese, S., Musmarra, D., 2016. Biomass gasification technology: the state of the art overview. J. Energy Chem. 25, 10–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jechem.2015.11.005.
- Molino, A., Larocca, V., Chianese, S., Musmarra, D., 2018. Biofuels production by biomass gasification: a review. Energies 11, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11040811.
- Motagamwala, A.H., Won, W., Maravelias, C.T., Dumesic, J.A., 2016. An engineered solvent system for sugar production from lignocellulosic biomass using biomass derived γvalerolactone. Green Chem. 18, 5756–5763. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6GC02297A.
- Müller, S., Groß, P., Rauch, R., Zweiler, R., Aichernig, C., Fuchs, M., Hofbauer, H., 2018. Production of diesel from biomass and wind power – energy storage by the use of the Fischer-Tropsch process. Biomass Convers. Biorefinery 8, 275–282. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13399-017-0287-1.
- Nazari, L., Yuan, Z., Souzanchi, S., Ray, M.B., Xu, C., 2015. Hydrothermal liquefaction of woody biomass in hot-compressed water: catalyst screening and comprehensive characterization of bio-crude oils. Fuel 162, 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fuel.2015.08.055.
- Nikolaidis, P., Poullikkas, A., 2017. A comparative overview of hydrogen production processes. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 67, 597–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2016.09.044.
- Olgun, H., Ozdogan, S., Yinesor, G., 2011. Results with a bench scale downdraft biomass gasifier for agricultural and forestry residues. Biomass Bioenergy 35, 572–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.10.028.
- Olmstead, I.L.D., Kentish, S.E., Scales, P.J., Martin, G.J.O., 2013. Low solvent, low temperature method for extracting biodiesel lipids from concentrated microalgal biomass. Bioresour. Technol. 148, 615–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.09.022.
- Pachauri, R., Reisinger, A., 2014. Climate change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. J. Roman. Stud. 4, 85–88.
- Parthasarathy, P., Narayanan, K.S., 2014. Hydrogen production from steam gasification of biomass: influence of process parameters on hydrogen yield - a review. Renew. Energy 66, 570–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2013.12.025.
- Patil, P.T., Armbruster, U., Martin, A., 2014. Hydrothermal liquefaction of wheat straw in hot compressed water and subcritical water-alcohol mixtures. J. Supercrit. Fluids 93, 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2014.01.006.
- Peng, W.X., Wang, L.S., Mirzaee, M., Ahmadi, H., Esfahani, M.J., Fremaux, S., 2017. Hydrogen and syngas production by catalytic biomass gasification. Energy Convers. Manag. 135, 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2016.12.056.
- Phan, X.K., Walmsley, J.C., Bakhtiary-Davijany, H., Myrstad, R., Pfeifer, P., Venvik, H., Holmen, A., 2016. Pd/CeO 2 catalysts as powder in a fixed-bed reactor and as coating in a stacked foil microreactor for the methanol synthesis. Catal. Today 273, 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2016.02.047.
- Plis, P., Wilk, R.K., 2011. Theoretical and experimental investigation of biomass gasification process in a fixed bed gasifier. Energy 36, 3838–3845. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.energy.2010.08.039.
- Porosoff, M.D., Yan, B., Chen, J.G., 2016. Catalytic reduction of CO2 by H2 for synthesis of CO, methanol and hydrocarbons: challenges and opportunities. Energy Environ. Sci. 9, 62–73. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5ee02657a.
- Rabemanolontsoa, H., Saka, S., 2016. Various pretreatments of lignocellulosics. Bioresour. Technol. 199, 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.08.029.
- Rafael, S., Tarelho, L., Monteiro, A., Sá, E., Miranda, A.I., Borrego, C., Lopes, M., 2015. Impact of forest biomass residues to the energy supply chain on regional air quality. Sci. Total Environ. 505, 640–648.
- Ragauskas, A.J., Beckham, G.T., Biddy, M.J., Chandra, R., Chen, F., Davis, M.F., Davison, B.H., Dixon, R.A., Gilna, P., Keller, M., Langan, P., Naskar, A.K., Saddler, J.N., Tschaplinski, T.J., Tuskan, G.A., Wyman, C.E., 2014. Lignin valorization: improving lignin processing in the biorefinery. Science 344, 1246843. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246843.
- Ralph, J., Chapple, C., Amiri, M.T., Meilan, R., Kim, H., Li, Y., Shuai, L., Héroguel, F., Luterbacher, J.S., Questell-Santiago, Y.M., 2016. Formaldehyde stabilization facilitates lignin monomer production during biomass depolymerization. Science 354, 329–333. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf7810.
- Ramarajan, R., Manohar, C.S., 2017. Biological pretreatment and bioconversion of agricultural wastes, using ligninolytic and cellulolytic fungal consortia. Bioremediat. J. 21, 89–99.
- Reed, T.B., 2002. Kinetics of char gasification reactions above 500_°C. Encyclopedia of Biomass Thermal Conversion: The Principles and Technology of Pyrolysis, Gasification & Combustion. Biomass Energy Foundation, pp. II–189.

- Reichardt, C., Welton, T., 2014. Classification of solvents. Solvents and Solvent Effects in Organic Chemistry, pp. 65–106 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-416677-6.00029-9.
- Rodrigues Gurgel, André, da, S., Giuliano, A., Errico, M., Rong, B.-G., Barletta, D., 2019. Economic value and environmental impact analysis of lignocellulosic ethanol production: assessment of different pretreatment processes. Clean Techn. Environ. Policy 21, 637–654.
- Sadef, Y., Nizami, A.S., Batool, S.A., Chaudary, M.N., Ouda, O.K.M., Asam, Z.Z., Habib, K., Rehan, M., Demirbas, A., 2016. Waste-to-energy and recycling value for developing integrated solid waste management plan in Lahore. Energy Sources Part B 11, 569–579.
- Samavati, M., Santarelli, M., Martin, A., Nemanova, V., 2018. Production of synthetic Fischer–Tropsch diesel from renewables: thermoeconomic and environmental analysis. Energy Fuel 32, 1744–1753.
- Sansaniwal, S.K., Pal, K., Rosen, M.A., Tyagi, S.K., 2017. Recent advances in the development of biomass gasification technology: a comprehensive review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 72, 363–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.01.038.
- Saxena, R.C., Seal, D., Kumar, S., Goyal, H.B., 2008. Thermo-chemical routes for hydrogen rich gas from biomass: a review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 12, 1909–1927. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2007.03.005.
- Schutyser, W., Renders, T., Van Den Bosch, S., Koelewijn, S.F., Beckham, G.T., Sels, B.F., 2018. Chemicals from lignin: an interplay of lignocellulose fractionation, depolymerisation, and upgrading. Chem. Soc. Rev. 47, 852–908. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c7cs00566k.
- Seuring, S., Gold, S., 2013. Sustainability management beyond corporate boundaries: from stakeholders to performance. J. Clean. Prod. 56, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2012.11.033.
- Sfakiotakis, S., Vamvuka, D., 2018. Thermal decomposition behavior, characterization and evaluation of pyrolysis products of agricultural wastes. J. Energy Inst. 91, 951–961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joei.2017.09.001.
- Shuai, L., Luterbacher, J., 2016. Organic solvent effects in biomass conversion reactions. ChemSusChem 9, 133–155.
- Sikarwar, V.S., Zhao, M., Clough, P., Yao, J., Zhong, X., Memon, M.Z., Shah, N., Anthony, E.J., Fennell, P.S., 2016. An overview of advances in biomass gasification. Energy Environ. Sci. 9, 2939–2977. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ee00935b.
- Singh, R., Chaudhary, K., Biswas, B., Balagurumurthy, B., Bhaskar, T., 2015. Hydrothermal liquefaction of rice straw: effect of reaction environment. J. Supercrit. Fluids 104, 70–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2015.05.027.
- Sinigaglia, T., Lewiski, F., Santos Martins, M.E., Mairesse Siluk, J.C., 2017. Production, storage, fuel stations of hydrogen and its utilization in automotive applications-a review. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 42, 24597–24611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijhydene.2017.08.063.
- Soh, L., Eckelman, M.J., 2016. Green solvents in biomass processing. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.6b01635.
- Spath, P.L., Dayton, D.C., 2003. Preliminary Screening–Technical and Economic Assessment of Synthesis Gas to Fuels and Chemicals with Emphasis on the Potential for Biomass-Derived Syngas. National Renewable Energy Lab, Golden, CO.(US).
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E.M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S.R., de Vries, W., de Wit, C.A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G.M., Persson, L.M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., Sörlin, S., 2015. Planetary boundaries: guiding human development on a changing planet. Science 347, 1259855. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1259855.
- Sun, Z., Fridrich, B., De Santi, A., Elangovan, S., Barta, K., 2018. Bright side of lignin depolymerization: toward new platform chemicals. Chem. Rev. 118, 614–678. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.7b00588.
- Szamosi, Z., Tóth, P., Koós, T., Baranyai, V.Z., Szepesi, G.L., Siménfalvi, Z., 2017. Explosion characteristics of torrefied wheat straw, rape straw, and vine shoots fuels. Energy Fuel 31, 12192–12199. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.7b01875.
- Thrän, D., Peetz, D., Schaubach, K., Mai-Moulin, T., Junginger, H.M., Lamers, P., Visser, L., 2017. Global wood pellet industry and trade study 2017. IEA Bioenergy Task 40.
- Tobimatsu, Y., Chen, F., Havkin-Frenkel, D., Dixon, R.A., Ralph, J., 2012. A polymer of caffeyl alcohol in plant seeds. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 1772–1777. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1120992109.
- Tran, K.-Q., 2016a. Fast hydrothermal liquefaction for production of chemicals and biofuels from wet biomass-the need to develop a plug-flow reactor. Bioresour. Technol. 213, 327–332.
- Tran, K.Q., 2016b. Fast hydrothermal liquefaction for production of chemicals and biofuels from wet biomass – the need to develop a plug-flow reactor. Bioresour. Technol. 213, 327–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.04.002.
- Tripathi, N., Hills, C.D., Singh, R.S., Atkinson, C.J., 2019. Biomass waste utilisation in lowcarbon products: harnessing a major potential resource. npj Clim. Atmos. Sci. 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41612-019-0093-5.
- Valderrama Rios, M.L., González, A.M., Lora, E.E.S., Almazán del Olmo, O.A., 2018. Reduction of tar generated during biomass gasification: a review. Biomass Bioenergy 108, 345–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2017.12.002.
- Van den Born, G.J., Van Minnen, J.G., Olivier, J.G.J., Ros, J.P.M., 2014. Integrated Analysis of Global Biomass Flows in Search of the Sustainable Potential for Bioenergy Production.

- Venvik, H.J., Yang, J., 2017. Catalysis in microstructured reactors: short review on smallscale syngas production and further conversion into methanol, DME and Fischer-Tropsch products. Catal. Today 285, 135–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cattod.2017.02.014.
- Verma, D., Insyani, R., Cahyadi, H.S., Park, J., Kim, S.M., Cho, J.M., Bae, J.W., Kim, J., 2018. Ga-doped Cu/H-nanozeolite-Y catalyst for selective hydrogenation and hydrodeoxygenation of lignin-derived chemicals. Green Chem. 20, 3253–3270. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8gc00629f.
- Vita, A., Italiano, C., Previtali, D., Fabiano, C., Palella, A., Freni, F., Bozzano, G., Pino, L., Manenti, F., 2018. Methanol synthesis from biogas: a thermodynamic analysis. Renew. Energy 118, 673–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.11.029.
- Wang, M., Xu, C., Leitch, M., 2009. Liquefaction of cornstalk in hot-compressed phenol-water medium to phenolic feedstock for the synthesis of phenolformaldehyde resin. Bioresour. Technol. 100, 2305–2307. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2008.10.043.
- Wang, F., Chang, Z., Duan, P., Yan, W., Xu, Y., Zhang, L., Miao, J., Fan, Y., 2013. Hydrothermal liquefaction of Litsea cubeba seed to produce bio-oils. Bioresour. Technol. 149, 509–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.09.108.
- Wang, Z., He, T., Qin, J., Wu, Jingli, Li, J., Zi, Z., Liu, G., Wu, Jinhu, Sun, L., 2015. Gasification of biomass with oxygen-enriched air in a pilot scale two-stage gasifier. Fuel 150, 386–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2015.02.056.
- Wang, C., Zhang, H.R., Guo, H.J., Shi, S.L., Xiong, L., Chen, X.D., 2016. Real-time monitoring of hemicellulose liquefaction in ethylene glycol. Energy Sources, Part A 38, 2517–2523.
- Wilhelm, D.J., Simbeck, D.R., Karp, A.D., Dickenson, R.L., 2001. Syngas production for gasto-liquids applications: technologies, issues and outlook. Fuel Process. Technol. 71, 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-3820(01)00140-0.
- Woolcock, P.J., Brown, R.C., 2013. A review of cleaning technologies for biomass-derived syngas. Biomass Bioenergy 52, 54–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.036.
- Wu, Z., Zhao, X., Zhang, J., Li, X., Zhang, Y., Wang, F., 2019. Ethanol/1,4-dioxane/ formic acid as synergistic solvents for the conversion of lignin into high-value added phenolic monomers. Bioresour. Technol. 278, 187–194. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2019.01.082.
- Yan, F., Luo, S. yi, Hu, Z. quan, Xiao, B., Cheng, G., 2010. Hydrogen-rich gas production by steam gasification of char from biomass fast pyrolysis in a fixed-bed reactor: influence of temperature and steam on hydrogen yield and syngas composition. Bioresour. Technol. 101, 5633–5637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.02.025.
- Yan, H.-L., Zong, Z.-M., Zhu, W.-W., Li, Z.-K., Wang, Y.-G., Wei, Z.-H., Li, Y., Wei, X.-Y., 2015. Poplar liquefaction in water/methanol cosolvents. Energy Fuel 29, 3104–3110. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef502518n.
- Yang, T., Wang, J., Li, B., Kai, X., Xing, W., Li, R., 2018. Behaviors of rice straw two-step liquefaction with sub/supercritical ethanol in carbon dioxide atmosphere. Bioresour. Technol. 258, 287–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.02.099.
- Yang, J., Sophia)He, Q., Yang, L., 2019. A review on hydrothermal co-liquefaction of biomass. Appl. Energy 250, 926–945. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.05.033.
- Yao, D., Hu, Q., Wang, D., Yang, H., Wu, C., Wang, X., Chen, H., 2016. Hydrogen production from biomass gasification using biochar as a catalyst/support. Bioresour. Technol. 216, 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.05.011.
- Yuan, X.Z., Li, H., Zeng, G.M., Tong, J.Y., Xie, W., 2007. Sub- and supercritical liquefaction of rice straw in the presence of ethanol-water and 2-propanol-water mixture. Energy 32, 2081–2088. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2007.04.011.
- Yuan, X., Ma, L., Wen, B., Zhou, D., Kuang, M., Yang, W., Cui, Z., 2016. Enhancing anaerobic digestion of cotton stalk by pretreatment with a microbial consortium (MC1). Bioresour. Technol. 207, 293–301.
- Zakzeski, J., Bruijnincx, P.C.A., Jongerius, A.L., Weckhuysen, B.M., 2010. The catalytic valorization of ligning for the production of renewable chemicals. Chem. Rev. 110, 3552–3599. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr900354u.
- Zeng, J., Xiao, R., Zhang, H., Chen, X., Zeng, D., Ma, Z., 2017. Syngas production via biomass self-moisture chemical looping gasification. Biomass Bioenergy 104, 1–7.
- Zhang, X., 2016. Essential scientific mapping of the value chain of thermochemically converted second-generation bio-fuels. Green Chem. 18, 5086–5117.
- Zhang, X., Oyedun, A.O., Kumar, A., Oestreich, D., Arnold, U., Sauer, J., 2016a. An optimized process design for oxymethylene ether production from woody-biomass-derived syngas. Biomass Bioenergy 90, 7–14.
- Zhang, K., Pei, Z., Wang, D., 2016b. Organic solvent pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for biofuels and biochemicals: a review. Bioresour. Technol. 199, 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.08.102.
- Zhang, C., Jia, C., Cao, Y., Yao, Y., Xie, S., Zhang, S., Lin, H., 2019. Water-assisted selective hydrodeoxygenation of phenol to benzene over the Ru composite catalyst in the biphasic process. Green Chem. 21, 1668–1679. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8gc04017f.
- Zhu, W.-W., Zong, Z.-M., Yan, H.-L., Zhao, Y.-P., Lu, Y., Wei, X.-Y., Zhang, D., 2014. Cornstalk liquefaction in methanol/water mixed solvents. Fuel Process. Technol. 117, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2013.04.007.
- Zhu, Z., Rosendahl, L., Toor, S.S., Yu, D., Chen, G., 2015. Hydrothermal liquefaction of barley straw to bio-crude oil: effects of reaction temperature and aqueous phase recirculation. Appl. Energy 137, 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.10.005.